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THEYEAR UNDER REVIEW

It 1= wmth preat pleasure, T-report here thar SMCL was extremely suceessful. vet agam, i 2F2? With grear prattade I
mform, SMCL hae been growme from strenpth to strenpth for the sisth successree vears, dezpute challenges posed by
the panderme All emplovess, especially those in the field have been worlang hard under difficult conditions, consiatently
delrrenng great results: Kudos to ther great resilience!

The Companvs fnsncial performznce was outstandine The revenus croseed the fve hilkon mulestone for the first time
The total mcome was Nu. 336529 M agamst the targer of 4.765.82 AL representing an mcrease of 26.86%% over 2021
Diolonute zale geneated 33%% of the revenue. The revenues from sale of coal mncreased by 23.84%, grpsum br 3.54% and
dolomite by 35.46%. PAT stood at Nu. 1,920.73 M. surpassing both the mitial target of 1.606.16 M and revised smd-term
target of 1,807 M, respectivele However, parmsnt of mming lezse fee of Nu. 273 AL which 13 niot tax deductible: dented
profitabelity.

The Compact achievement was 99.79%, scormg full marks m finance, production and sale. The emplovees gor the
amch-deserved full PEVP and bonus The shareholder’s demaad of Nu 1915 B =: dmidend, which 15 6337 of the share
capafal was granted by the Board. The return on equity was 93 8004, an merease of 15.50% from 2021

SMCL has been lucky and conducive crcumstances for growth has been coming its way, at 2 regular mtersal SMCL
started itz operation with coal, solely with demestic ‘supply to boost downstream ndustnes Then gypsam was granted
m 2019, followed br dolosmre 1 2001 both on mienm armngement We acknowledee the decssion of the Roval Gor-
ernment of Bhutan m 2022 to grant the long-teem lease of pypsum and dolommte to SMCL. With the sipamg of Mall
on 18 Apal 2022 for 15 vears, the uncertam mterim opemtions of these rones cameto an end. This decision pave the
Cpportamiy to stratepize ahead to consohdare the business.

Consohdation of plants and machmery was mitiated to Scale up production to meet the markets demand éxpected to
mcreaze with the easing of COVID. A two-screen plant of 1030 TPH coupled to a fixed crusher of 500 TPH was setup
mn Chunnukhols Dolommute Mine The plant was designed to br-pass feed below 80 mm directly to one screen mithout
passing through the ersther Too mohile erizhers and ther sereent, tsken over from our predeceszor, wete diesel operat
ed One mohile sereen was correrted to electne opemtion. whichwas sccessfullv completed on 13 Awvgnst 2027 Spares
were procored from Inde and the work was done by the inhouse erusher and workshop teams The cost zaning from this
converson was significant Recoprmininipg the siemficant cost'saving, the work on the other screen was started. Bventually;
all diesel operated crushers will be converted to elector operation for fosl afficiency.

Thke coal wazhery machines and equipment were m stores since eady 2000 Installation waz held up by COVID restne-
tions: The construchon of the coal washery plant began on 9 September 2002, Coal washery zettmp up 1z 2 complex task
as the machines and equspment are manufactured by several different compames in India. Under the swdance of the
consuitant, mstallation, testing and commmzsiomng wall be completed by first quarter of 2023,

Sudden fuel poce hike from 17 March 2022 beought the muning operations almost te 2 standstll Trucks transporting
rnerals aver long distances and haubing OB at munes stopped work Existing hinng rtes of EME had to be remized,
which wcreared operatron costs sipmficantly, Operation as- 8 mmme company 35 fuel dewen and its price hike has huge
mmpact Fuel poce hike il temam a perpetual challenge te mumng opemtions,
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The munerals we deal i are mainly for the esport markets i the regron. Minerals betrig bulky in nsture nvolve sipnificant
transport cost 1 delwenae them to markets Faze of transport == kev to markets expansion. Bemg a landlocked countey,
trensport bottlensclks wthin and heyond will continue to be 2 senous challenge to penetrate far flung markets.

The journer shead requires greater sesolve to espand sale: m a fiercely compebtve market place We rieed all the Grorble
cireornstances: and good wizhes from all sakeholders:

Good huck to SACT!

D

Kezano jamtsho
Chief Executmee Officer
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COMPANY PROFLE

The Roval Government of Bhutan realizng the potentials of ouwmng ssctors’ contnbution to the naton’s sotic-econommuc
derelopment and expend economsc opporimbies; ereate joha; and generate revenue for the countey, the:Stare-Amme
Corposition Limited (SMCL), a state-ovmed mnms company was formed on 31st December 2014 a5 3 100% Druk
Helding and Investment Linuted ovmed Company.

As on 313t December 2022, the Company has four coal rines, one gypsum mine, one stone quarry and one dolormte
rune 1 operation zad the netwzlue of the Company dunng the vear wa: 2047
MISSION
Explote and develop mumeral resousces m a responsible manner for miergenerational equity
VISION
Be the leading company m sustemable suinerl resources csnagement to dstnbuts the mabonal wealth to the

people of Bhutan

VALLES

Integnity
Conduct bosness wnth honesty and transparency at hughest level of cosporate govemance.

Excellenca
Stove for the lughest posshle standards while conducting business, both in terms of wodk and quality of goods

and serTices.

Accountability
Definme & accephng responahility, delrenng on the commitments:

Team Work
Wods collectrrelr arross all levels and partners, budding strong relstionships based on respect. understandmg

Responsibiliny
Stove to be tezponsible 1 keepine wath the values of GNH, be zenstive to the environment and accountable to
the people of Bhutan

Efficiency
Commutted to hughest standards through hard wrork, cost control and innovation

ORI AT REPORT 10537 STATE MG CORPOEATEN 1 TWITED ¥






DASHO KARMA YEZER RAYDI — CHAIRMAN,
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER —-DHI

Dasho Karma Yezer Ravd: 12 the cucrent Cluef Ezecutire Officer of DHI and has
Master depree in Geotechniral Engmeering. friom Nippon Institute of Technology,
Smtsma Jepan and obtamed Bachelor Degree in Gl Engmeenne from Unmersity
of Roorkee, India He has nch leadership expenence scquired over the 27 vears of
sermice to the Tea-Wa-Sum He'started his career in 1989 and smee then heshouldered
important posibons in mmustoes, Gnancsl insttutions, authonte: and Bnally a3 an
Eminent Member of Natonal Conserl from Z00B-Z013.

CHEWANG RINZIN
DIRECTOR-ROYAL INSTITUTE FOR GOVERNANCE AND STRATEGIC STUDIES

Dasho Chewang Rinzm 2 2 Depoty Chambertam to His Majesty The King of Bhustan,
and the Director of the Roval Institute for Governance and Strategse Studies (RIGSS),
He hesded the team that established the Instimate mn 2013 Poor to beme appomted at
RIGSS m 2013 by His Majesty The King, Chewanp worked at the Bhutan Standards
Buseau (B5B), the National Standards Body of Bhutan While-at BSB, he was a core
member of Bhutar's WO Negotiating Team: from 20032008, a3 an expert on Tech-
micsl Barriess to Trade Chewang has a BTech Depree in Electneal and Electromes
Engneenmp from the TEM College of Engmeenne. Kenmla Unmersty and 2 Master
m Poblic Adewmsteateon from the Lee Kuan Yew School of Puobhe Poher Natonal
Unmwessty of Simpapore.

FASSANG DORI
DZONGDAG, SAMTSE DZONGKHAG

Me Pazzang Dorp 1e the sermng Dzongdae of Samrse Dzonglhse Price toappontment
13 Dizongdag, ke served 2: Esecutre Secretary under Thimphu Thromde He studied
Bachelor of Ads (Economees) mn Sherobtze College, and holds Master degree in
Publie Pobey from Anstealisn Natonal Unreeraty, Austraka He jomed emnl zermice a:
Trzines Officer in 1996 and later as planning officer in Thimphu, Tashigang, Ministry
of Fmence and Geoss National Happiness Commmzsion He has wde knowledee
poley formulations. macro-econome analvss, momitonne and evaloation of projects
and international fnancal pespectives.
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GELEY NORBU
DIRECTOR. - NATIONAL LAND COMMISSION, THIMFHU

He := the Director 1n National Land Commussion, Bhoten He has Masters Degree in
Uthen and Remonal Plannmine from Unmreruty of Sydner Anstralis and Bachelor of As
chitecture from Maulana Azad National University of Technology, Inda He jomed el
sercice 83 Urhan Planner and secved under Ministey of Wodks and Human Settlement
and Themphm Thromde. He has wade expenence 1n urban planmng, yplementabion of
projects, land and properiv related disputes resclotons, resettflement programs Served
a3 the member to the drafting of legslations related to land surseipal, boilding, plan-
nmg and brlaws: He delevered onbrie ecurze on behalf of World Bank to mterrational
parheipants.

i':l E?-""'l ]--3 |._,| E RH\J :;-:

SENIOR ANALYST, DHI

He has MBA from Auvstralian Nations| University, ACT, Anstraha and Bachelor of
Computer Science end Engmesnng from National Insttute of Technolosy Durgapue
India He began his career as Assocmte Analyst m DHI from 2011 under Cormporate
Performance Department He hss wade Imowledse = formulation of corporate
stratepic plans orgamzanoml development mterventions. momtonng and evalushons
of performance: of DHI and stz subsidimes, esplore busness opperunities and
projects farvrestment -He 15 cureently serving as Sentor Analyst undes Depactment of
Tyrestmentz, DHI

KESANG DEMA

PRESS SECRETARY, OFFICE OF THE PRIME MINISTER

Mz Kesang Dems 1sicorrentiy servmg a3 the Press Seeretsry to the Prme Minsster of
the third democmtbically elected government She 153 media consaltant and comes wath
jozrnabism background. She has carced out wade rasnge of media and eomomnication
related projects for governmient agenmes, compames and politeal pasties. Sheis cerhfied
miedia tramer and has worked =mth Ioezl media houses and news rooms She has obtamed
Masters of Atz i Jounalzm from Unwesity of Technology, Anstraka and Mastersn
Marketng and Buosiness From Sherabtze College.

KEZANG JAMTSHO
CHIE EXECUTIVE OFFICER- SMCL

He 15 the Cluef Fxecutve Officer of State Miring Corporation Temited (SMCL) and
holds AMaster's Degree in Trnostion Enpmeenne and Mansgement from Asan Inshifinte
of Technology, Banskok Thailand and Bachelors Degree m Cimil Engineering from
Regional Engineenng College, Sulchar, Indin: He warked i vanous capacities m the
Abruster of Aenoulture snd Forests. He served az the Comanssioner for Ant-Cormphon
Comnwsaon of Bhutan and comgpleted his teaure.
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KEZANG JAMTSHO

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

SAMGAY RINZIMN

DIRECTOR; SALES & LOGISTICS DEPARTMENT

He has obtamed Masters in Accounting from Cortin Unwersity of Technology, Western Austraha
mn 2005, He served as the Déan, Research and Industrial Lmkases m Gaedds College of Bosmess
Studies and as Research Consultsnt for Institute of Management Studies m Marketing and
Management He has experences 1n financial manapement and accounting, busmess resezrch
marketing: and development of project proposals

CHHIMI RINZIN

GENERAI MANAGER, CORPORATE SERVICES DEPARTMENT

He has obtained Masters m Human Resource Management from Cortn Universitv of Technologry,
Western Anstesban 2006, He'started hus careeras Trainze Officer and served tanious sunistres and
agencies m different posibons. Poor to appomtment as the General Manager, SMCI. he served as
the Head. Human Besource Management T¥mmon, and Roval Gred Sermice Conmmmuszion till Merch

2013,

SAMGAY TSHERING

GENERAI MANAGER, PROIECT & MINES DEPARTMENT

He did Bachelors of Engmeerne m Mimng from Nagpus Unwersty, Maharashtrs, Indiz and
Masters m Engmesnng Smence i Munng Industey Management from Uniceraity of New South
Wales at Sydney, Anstralia. Before joming the company he served as the Head of the Alnmnp
Drosion under the Department of Geolopy and Mines, Alimistry of Economue Affawes He has
knowledpe and expenence 1 apphed geolomeil remote sensme; Geo nek enprieermg, slope stabality
and envimmnment snalysis, aone rehabilitation and enorenmental manacement and ermironmental
2zsessment and moniteong.

KARMA CHOFHEL

GENERAL MANAGER, PROIECTS DIVESION

He jomed SMCI. after serming Depariment of Geology and Alines for more than 2 decade He
recerved master’s degree m Profeszional Enomeenne: from the Unsveesty of Westemn Avstralia and
Bachelor in Enomeenng m AMimng feom Induan Institute of Engmeenns Saence and Technology,
Inehia

KELDEN JATSHO

HEAD, ACCOUNTS & FINANCE DIVISION

He chtamed nz Bachelor of Commerce from Kurseong Caollege, Nocth-Bengal Tlmversity, Indis.
He started Ins carner 35 contract teacher i 2010 Lster feom Aupunst 2012 he jomed 35 Accounts
& Finance Officer i Bhutsns first Povate Fund Menagement Company. Before talane up the
posihon-as Head {Accoants & Funance) at the SMCL, he worked as fsustant Manager (Accounts)
at the Army Welfare Project Linnted (AWPL).
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DIRECTORS® REPORT

To the Sharcholders

It is my honor and privilege, as the Chairman of the Board of SMCL, to present the Directors’
Report for the year 2022, At the outset, | want to acknowledge and welcome the decision of
the Roval Government of Bhutan to grant the long-term lease of gypsum and dolomite mines
to SMCL. With the signing of Mol on 18 April 2022, the uncertain interim operations of
Khothakpa Gypsum Mine and Chunaikhola Dolomite Mine came to an end. These mines were
granted through lease to SMCL for the next 15 years as two important portfolios.

With immense happiness, I inform the shareholders that SMCL was extremely successful, yet
again, in 2022, despite some disruptions by the pandemic in the first half of the year. The field
staff excelled in their hard work and produced great results.

OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS
GYPSUM

The target, both for production and sale, was set at 400,000 MT. The production for 2022 was
based on the estimated quantity of the updated mine plan. The mine plan was updated to avoid
shifting of the crusher by another few years. Gypsum reserve was available at the benches, but
case of mining was reduced due to steep topography.

In spite of the constraint of the steep twopography, production was more than the target by 18%
at 472417.94 MT. Sale would have heen achieved to the same level, but was hampered to
407843.31 MT, caused by the slump in the Nepal markets from September due to bank loan
and foreign reserve restrictions.

COAL
The mmitial targets for production and sales were set at 175,000 MT and 167,000 MT
respectively. The coal production in 2022 were mainly from Habrang, Tshephangma, Rishore

and Majuwa coalmines.

During the MTR it was submited and agreed that the Company would be able to produce
110,000 MT of coal and sell 90.000 MT of coal.

e g e 2 i
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As depicted by the above graph., production was severely affected by COVID-19 upsurge in
Bhangtar and Dewathang in the first quarter of 2022. Most of the staff in Bhangtar tested
positive for COVID. Lockdown was only relaxed from second week of March. Sudden fuel
price hike from 17 March 2022 disturbed the EME deployment, right ar the time of opening
from lockdown, Production was severely hampered due to lack of tippers to haul OB. In June,
monsoon was abnormally heavy and washed away Majuwa and Tshophangma mine roads at
multiple locations. Restoring these roads took some time. Dimola bridge, on the Secondary
National Highway, connecting Bhangtar to Dewathang, was washed away in June and
remained cut off for more than a month. Coal sale to cement plants were affected. Sale to
DCCL in the first quarter was hampered as the plant was also under lockdown due 1o COVID.

The field staff in all the coalmines were worried that they may set the unpleasant precedent of
not achieving the target this vear. This made them plan and work hard. Till the lasttwo months.
the target was short by more than 50,000 MT but through sheer perseverance, the field staff
did it and even surpassed the targer. The production and sale achieved was 115,359 MT and
98,165 MT, respectively. Operating 4 coalmines helped in achieving the production target.
Majuwa Coal Mimne granted on 21 March 2022 contributed 23,321 MT.

DOLOMITE

The production and sale targets were set at 2,400,000 MT and 2,300,000 MT, respectively.
Production was slightly hampered by truckers stopping work at the instigation of a few. Buying
our own trucks to reduce the impact through a mixed mode mine operation sent a strong
message. Sale faced load restrictions in India from Seprember, but with easing of COVID,
mereasing number of trucks compensated for it. Production achieved was 2,673,935 MT, which
was 30% higher compared 10 2021. Sale achieved was 2,680,264 MT. which was 35% higher
compared to 2021.

With a long-term lease approval, consolidation of plants and machinery was initiated geared
towards stepping up production to meet the market demand, whith was expected to increase
with the easing of COVID. A two-screen plant of 1050 TPH coupled to a fixed crusher of 500

ET, I
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TPH was set up at Lhamoikhola Stockyard in Chunnaikhola Dolomite Mine. The plant was
commussioned en 27 November 2022, bought from M/s Propel Industries Pvt Ltd.,
Commbatore, Tamil Nadu, India. The plant was set up at the total cost of Nu. 43.502,258.65.

Two mobile crushers and their screens. taken over from our predecessor, were diesel operated.
One mobile screen was converted to electric operation, which was successtully completed on
I5 August 2022. The cost saving from this conversion was significant. Spares were procured
from India and the work was done by the crusher and workshop teams. Recogmzing the
significant cost saving. the work on the other screen was started. Eventually, all diesel operated
crushers will be converted to electric operation.

STONE BOULDERS AND AGGREGATES

The production of boulders and aggregates from Dzongthung Stone Quarry was targeted for
Kholongchu Hydro Energy Limited (KHEL). As KHEL did not eommenee, the Company
produced only to meet the local demand. The Company produced 57.979.16 MT of boulders,
41.237.37 MT of aggregates and achieved sale of 38,096.1 MT of aggresates against the local
demand target of 28,260 MT.

As a cost cutfing interim strategy, primary crusher at Bartsham, secondary crusher and sand
washing plant at Dzungdi was operated by the minimum set of employees, just to cater to the
local demand. The rest of the staff was demobilized and deployed at Company’s other mines.

COAL WASHERY

The coal washery machines and equipment were in stores sineé carly 2020, Installation was
held up by COVID restrictions. The construction of the coal washery plant began on 9
September 2022. Coal washery setting up 15 a complex task as the different machines and
equipment are manufactured by several different companies in India. Under the guidance of
the consultant, installation, testing and commissioning work was awarded to M/s Pioneer
Minerals and Processing Co., Dhanbad, Jharkhand, India. The work is scheduled to be
completed in the first quarter of 2023,

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

The Company’s financial performance for the years 2022 was outstanding as the Company
surpassed all financial targets.

REVENUE

The total income for year was Nu, 5,365.29 M against the target of 4,768.82 M, representing
an merease of 26.86% over 2021, Dolomite sale penerated 33% of the revenue.

The revenues from sale of coal mcreased by 25.84%, gypsumn by 5.54% and dolomite by
35.46%. Revenue from sale of Quartzite decreased by 48%,,

TATE MO RPN 1 IWTTED
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EXPENDITURE

The total expenditure for the year 2022 was Nu. 2,513.36 M, which was 1,957.97 M in 2021, an
increase of 28.37%. The main reason for the increase in expenditure was increase in fuel price
from March 2022

PROFITABILITY

In 2022, PAT increased to 1.920.73 M from Nu. 1,568.29 M. an increase by 22.47% compared
to 2021, The mitial target was set at 1,606.16 M and increased during the mid-term to Nu.
L.80T M. The profit margin decreased to 41% from 42% in 2021. Payment of mining lease fee
of Nu. 275 M, which is not tax deductible dented the profitability.

CASH FLOW

The cash generated from the operation decreased to Nu. 1.85 B in 2022 from Nu. 253 B in
2021,

RETURN ON EQUITY

The return on equity stands ot 93.80%. an mcrease of 15.50% compared to 2021 which was
B1.21%

AUDIT ISSUES

The Company was audited by Dechok & Associates Pvt. Lid Chartered Accounts, based in
Thimphu, Bhutan,
The Management Audit Report consisted of the following:

a) Inappropriaic hiring of carth moving equipment for loading at sale point

b) Weakness in trip recording system

¢) Improper accounting for PPE
The comments given by the Auditor has been well noted by the Company which will be
addressed in 2023,

BOARD'S RECOMMENDATION OF DIVIDEND

The sharcholder has demanded dividend of Nu.1,918 M, which is 653% of the share capital.
The detail 1s shown below:
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varenibs (%) Nu/(M)
Share Capital
Dividend (%) 653.00% 293,99
Dividend Amount 1,919.75
Total Comprehensive Income( Loss) 1,915,158
Dividend % on Total Comprehensive Income/(loss) | 100.08%
Profit{ Loss) After Income Tax (PAT) 1.920.73
Dividend % on Profit/(Loss) After Income Tax

S

(PAT) 99.95%

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company always stmves to abide by the provisions of Corporate Governance Code (CG
Code), Ownership Policy of the Druk Holding and Investments Limited (DHI), the Companies
Act of the Kingdom of Bhutan 2016 and other statutory requirgments,

The Company conducted five Board Meetings, a Mid Term Review Meeting, an Annual
Gieneral Meeting, one Board HR Committes Meecting, one Board Tender Committee Meeting
and nine Board Audit and Budget Committee Meetings for the vear 2022,

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

As part of corporate social responsibility, the Company made contributions to following
activities as detailed below:

- SL. Reiy
No. Beneficiaries AN
1 National Resilience Fund 12,200,000
Culture & religious events
5 | (Construction/renovation/preservation of lhakhangs, 1.015.071 76
- chortens and other monuments) & Community AN A
Development
3 | Schools, Institution/Colleges, Hospital 61.852.13
Total 13,276,923.89
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BEYOND CSR: SHARING BENEFITS WITH THE COMMUNITIES

As a responsible mining Company, we engage the communities in the mining operation thereby
boosting the local economy and its specific details are as follows:

Particulars | Details Amount (Nu) | Nos Remarks
30 nos of exeavators: 10 noz of paylozders
EME hired 235.998.938.10 a2nd 1 ne of screen plant 1n the mines and
41.00
stoickopard.
! : - 2187 noa of tippers inthe mines and stoelk-
oy
Tippers hired 183911 652.00 19200 |y :
I Gypsum transportation from Pema Gat-
; - ; shel to S/ Tonskhar
EME & Tip- Individuat tip- = R
! 2 Coal transportation from Habrans to
PELE r.!_ers: W- DocL =
hmaf. . = 3_ Coal transportation from Habrans to
from minespri- - — 1 ; =
) atoakysrd 380074 28526 40500 Motanpa,
25 aetm:!m' ;i;ifual ﬁaﬁfpﬂl‘t&hﬂ.ﬂ from Rishore o
zf::f'ﬂi::ds e 5. Dolomite transportation from Stocl-
vard to buyers {Only Bhntanese Truelers
Incinded)
) . Contract works
Corudion | i contin 6.324 240 83 s Awarded to local people
wotks -
to locats)
; e e — Awardad based on Ouipot par Man shift
Cozl misers 8450027 .56 1500 acid per MT.
Operators
Manpower 41.40
Engaged B
Drivers <5700
Daily wage 1741 258 57 Recruited from local community
camers 4100 3
Total 1,018,500,71L.12 | 1,202,00
KEY CHALLENGES

Sudden fuel price hike from 17 March 2022 brought the mining operations almost to a
standstill. Trucks trunsporting minerals over long distances and hauling OB at mines stopped
work. Existing hiring rates of EME had to be revised, which increased operation expenditure
significantly. Our operation as a mining company is fuel driven and such increase has huge
impact. One of the higgest challenges to mining operation is ssen as the ever-increasing fuel

price.
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When mines were transferred to SMCL from the predecessors, Company had to acquire the
plants and machineries, along with the entire employees. In the process, we had to takeover,
on “as is where i1s basis”, Running these plants and machinenies has become a challenge,
especially when all spares have to be mmported, which takes time. As we grow, procurement of
spares and store management has become a challenge and needs to be strengthened, both with
manpower and skills.

The minerals we deal in, except coal, are mamly for the export markets in the region. Minerals
being bulky in nature involve significant transport ¢ost in marketing them. Penetration into far
flung markets is determined by the distance of transport, with respeet to the competitors, Given
this scenario, ease of transport enjoys a fair advantage. In our case, transport bottlenecks within
and beyond will continue to be a serious challenge for SMCL.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Board would like to submiit its humble respects and appreciation to His Majesty the King
for protecting the health of the people and economy of the country throughout the COVID
pandemic period (for approving dolomite mines). 1 sincerely acknowledge the Royal
Govermment of Bhutan, Druk Holding and Investments Limited, all regulatory agencies like
Department of Geology and Mines, National Eovironment Commission, National Land
Commussion, their subsidiary offices, Dzongkhags and Conununities for their continued
support.

We would also like to take this opportumty to express our appreciation to the management,
employees, customers, and suppliers for active participation and cooperation. We look forward
to another successful vear 2023.

For and on behalf of the Board

(Dasho Karma Yezer Raydi)
Chairman/
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CORPORATE GOVERMAMNCE REPORT 2012

A. THE BOARD
. Board Directors

The Board :s the mphest decision makeng body of the company Tt determnes the compant’s ovenll stratesr and follows
up on its implementahon supernses the performance ensures adequate management and orpanszation and. as such
actmely contnbutes to developing the company and Rlfll shareholders expectation

=

. Board Composition

The Compant’s Bosrd compnse of zeven members appomted by the shareholder at the Anwual General Meeting The
members constitute four mdependent and three non-independent directors from diverze professional backeround. The
diverse composthon w terms of lwmowledze, shlls, expenences, age, and pender helps the Board to-make informed.
mdependent. objachve decisons for the mterest of the shareholder, company, emplovees and other stakeholders:

Table 1: Board Members in 2022

‘Name of Director H : p it Remarks

1 i};‘;" Recca e gl_‘r’;* BacatveOffites. | e irman 15/04/2022 | NoaTndependent

2 |MrPemTehenng | Sr Analyst, DHI Board Member | 30/03/2021 | Non-Independent |
3 |Afc Kezang Jantshe | CEQ. SMCL Board Member | 1,7/2016 Noo-Independent
4 | Mr Chewang Rinzin | Director, RIGSS Bozrd Member | 18/04/2022 | Independent

5 |MePasangDoms | Director, DLO | Board Member | 50/03/2021 | Independent

6 | M Geler Norbu Disector, NLC Board Member | 30/03/2021 | Independent

T | M Kesang Dema Press Secretary, PAIO Board Member | 16/04/2022 | Independent

iil. Board's Responsibifities

v Piomde entreprensnnal leadeezhip br encourapme new 1deas sod wtatives; and to swde the company’s strategic

chrection:

o Setcompany’svalnes standards (ncluding povernance and ethical standards) and policies, and ansure that obligations
to shareholders and other stakeholders sre understood and met;

#t. Overses accountability and the process of diclozures to sharcholders and stakeholders m ensunng the mteonty of
the companr’s accounnng, financal reporting and internal control systems and mdependent andst;

. Montor snd evalnate the implementation of strategies, policies and business plans;

v Ensure a transparent and effechve selechion proecess for the CEO and semior managers of the company_ and

v Mosmitor the affectrrene:s of govermance prachees'under which the company operates, includng managma conflicts

of mterests

v, Chairman's Responsibilities

The pamary role of the charrman i5'te provde leadership to the board and to gmde the work of the board.
The chairmar’s sole shall include. but not be Inuted to the followmng:

t  Lzad the board to promote high standards of gqvetﬂ.nnce'md to ensure boand effectveness and smooth funchomng
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on all 2spects of it role i 3 firm and objective manner

Ensurs effectve accountabidity and governance of the company, consstent wth relevant legzlahosr;

Set the agends and preaide over board meetmgs to ensure that adequate time 1= avadlable for dscusaon of all sgenda
ttems, i particulae on the strategie 135nes;

Conduct effectrs bozrd meetings and enconmpe a culture of opeaness, actve parhmpahion and constructve debate;
Ensure acourate records of boand meetmos are taken snd wvenfomp thar dectmions are implemented;

Ensure that the directors recerve complete, adequate and tunely miormation to enable qualitr and mformed decision-
makeng:

Encoumpe constructive relations wathm the board and between the board and management to ensure the company
15 manaped effectrrely;

Parnicpate w1 the selechon and appomement of new board directors and the CEO m close: collaboraton wath the
shareholder(s).

Approve leave, ex-country travel and tramime of the CEQ,

i Aeet sharebolder expectations br leadies and ensunng effective annual board and CEO evaluation proceszes; snd

X

Develop and muntsin sound relations and commumications with shareholders and stakeholders, This may mclude
Tepresenting the company interests m mmechngs with swnistne: foreign company representatives-and with other

uugammsmﬂrnthrm

. Chief Beecutive Officer s Responsibilities

The CEO 1= subordinate to the board of diractors and rezponuble to the board for the ovenll dir-to-day opembon,

sm.u.agemeu.t and performance of the company
Hﬂm&gmth&kﬂtmﬁp"mﬂ}:ﬁh&ﬁ of the CECE

o

Ao '_:5 =1

L
e

AMznaging the company 1 accordzace with the stratesy and performance tarpets, poboes and directrees spproved by
the board

Becommending long-term wsion and stratesy for the company to the board

Leading the management tean i menagng the day-to-day operations of the orgamzaton 1tz people and resource
Ensunne the authontes delegated from the board are exercised m 2 competent manner and within the mtent of such
delegation and refereme all matters outsade his delepation to the board for approval

Ascting 3¢ the companys mterface with itz operating enmironment and the busines: commmnity

Protecting and enhancmg the rmace and reputation of the company

i Ensurnge comphancs with leg:ﬂ arid regnlarory obheations

o

=

L

=n

Promoting leadership development and proper succession planning for kev pominons in the company

Enzunng ethocal standards 23 established br board are complied with Keeping the board appnzed of all matters of
sgmificance

Keeping the board chmirman appnsed of all matters of sigruficance that opcus the board meetmgs

Protidmy the board with accosate, relevant. imely and complete information and

min Other responsihilittes a5 desspnated by the board from time to ime

]



v. Board meetings held in 2022

The Board met six times dunng the vear and quoroms for sach of these meetings were dulr met The dates for the Board
meetings are decsded in advance and commumeated to the Di:ec-tcz_a.-&.gmdg alomg with necessary explanatory notes are
zznt to the Directors before the meetings.

Board Meeang: held in 2021

§/04/2022
46= 7/06,2022
4= 3/08 2022
4= 19/10,/2022
49= 14/12/2022

vi. Board Direciors’ Atiendance in 2022

Mz Kezano Dema | Prezz Seeretary, PMO 35
Mrs. Kinley Yangzom Former Chairperson, ACC 15 REetired

B. BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board may from time fo time establish Board Comnuttees as 15 considered appropsiate to assist in carrying out its
dtﬁﬂﬂﬂmﬁgﬂmbﬂiﬁm-ﬂgﬂq&ddﬂﬂgﬂtﬁsuﬂﬁnﬁﬁcﬁnmm&gaﬁmmﬁmﬂ&mm“tﬂm&ﬁﬁﬂaﬂl
to make appropnate decisions.

I. Board Aud:t and Budget Commnuttee
i Board Tender Comnmttes
i, Board HE. Comouttes

The Board appoints the members and Chairperzon of each Committee. The committees constitute with memberz from
non-exzecutve members of the board where one of the mndependent directors appomted 2@ the charrman of the commmut-
tee Fach Board Comemittee operates under cleary defined ferms of reference approved by the Board

i. Board Budget and Audit Commuttes

Tke Board Andit Conrattee comprise of theee Board Directors sppomfed by the Board from time to time where the
chairman and the majonty of members ate independent directors. Membership of an zudit committee includes directors
wheo zre financally iterate.

o Theavdit econmittorchiall tudertake ity achivilies i sccotdasce vith 2 bosrd approved andit commmttes chatter

L] The apd:t commrttes shall momtor 2nd should give the board aszurance on the eperaton of the mnternal contral
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system and mternal audit actities, Ansncal reporting, external audit, accounting and legal compliance of the
company. It may alse moniter the effectrreness of the company nsk mansgement system

The details of the Board Budget and Audit Committee Meetings held in 2022

| 235 | 18/05/2022 | Virtual | Audit Meeting

| 29 | 31/03/2022 Virtual Budget Meeting

| 25% | 06/03/2023 Virtual Budget Meeting

| 26 | 28/06/2023 | Vastual | Budget Meeting

| o7 | 19/07/2022 Virtual  Budget Meeting

| 28% | 15/08/2022 [ Wistual | Budget Meeting

| 29% | 18/10/2022 Virtual ' Audit and Budget Meeting
L—’*ﬂ& |31/10/2022 | Nartal | Audit and Budget Meeting
| 31% | 31/12/2022 Vartual Budget Meeting

il Board HR Commitiee

Thke Board HR Commnuttee of the company compnses three members, and chairman identfied by the Board

The Board Humman Besource Conmtmittes reviews and zszess the policies & stratepies to strenpthen mternal svstemns and
procasses related Human Resource of the company, Tke pomary funchions of the commuttes are to:

* Rewew propozals submitted by the Mansgement and approve or recommend to the Boand.
o Carry out the Selection Intermews for the executive or equivalent positions

o Carry out anv other r2zponsthility related to HR 2z delegated br Board.

ili. Board Tender Commities

The objectve of the Commuttee 1= to remforee corporate governance, mtegnty and tranzpareney i the procarement pro-
cess and contrart maiapement The commuttee comprises of three members mcluding the chawrman appointed by Board

The company followed procuzement rules and standaeds of the company while procurning works, goods and services.
The details of Board Tender Committee meetings held in 2022

" To. of Meetin Date 1

15% _ /642022

C. ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 8th Annual General Meeting of the company was held on 30% March 2023 at the Board Room, DHI wis Zoom,
Thmphu waith the representatwes from DHI {shareholder). The meeting discussed on the cons:derstion of dudited ac-
counts for the fnancial vear ended 315t December. 2022 2nd auditors’ report and declaration of dividend.

There was no new appomtment and retwement of duectors and directed to continue with the exmsting members.

D. BOARD REMUNERATION

1. Board Directors’ remumeration

Based on the remuneration fixed by DHI, the company pad total of Nu464000.00 dunng 2022 for five Board Comuout-
tee meetings and 10 Board Subcommmttee Meetings.
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i‘gﬂﬁ.h_g_'ﬁ o i' i . !' F o t:
| Board Meetings 340,000
| Sub-committes fess 124,000

1. Remuneration of CEO

Tke CEO rermuneration for the 2022 has been presented 1 the table below:

| Basic Pay 1,311,000.00

| Mllowanices inchuding LTC & Leave Encashment 1,475,950.90
| FEVP & Bonus 345.000.00 |
| GPF Contribution ' 207.000.00
| Sitting Fees £8,000,00 |
| Grand Total | 3.409,950.00 |

F. RISK MANAGEMENT

As per the Company’s Rusk Management Policy, the Company prepares the nsk regster by recogmzmg potential nzks and
accurately program nubisation stratemes in the beginming of the vear As per DHI nsk srsnagement framiework, Compa-
o7z osks are classified under five broad categones 1e, Strategc, Financial, Operational, Compliance and Contal,

All Board Members, Management and Emplovees of the Company is indmdually responsible to safeguard the Company
from any nsk associated thereof which would otherwise lunder the performance or the reputation of the Compant The
nsk regrster 1 mamtamed wath approval from the Board n the beginming of the vear Itidentifies all potential nisks and the
nutigation plans/ measures to cucve or svoed ats consequences m future. The register 13 repularly monitored and wpdsted
onite implementation efficency andaf Hiurther achons ate deemed, the management resolves for additona]l measnres.
The mune workers are normally exposed to nsk of acoidents at worksite: The munes are operated 1n a rough and freshly
expozed terrains with narvow working space engagng hupe earth moving equipment that are lughly susceptible to aco-
dents. Addsthonal nitipations. of required, are putin place to address further niske.

SMCL has integrated major functon of itz systems and processes m the ERP- eMlines Further the Company 1= also
actwelr trving to take advantage of dipinzation m the mumng arena and 23 we move with technology zdaptaton, ICT
shilling for emplovess i3 eszential Conndering the quzhfication and skill level of current emplovees, the risk of ICT slall
gap 15 expenenced

Transport cost 12 a kev factor in deterouning the raw matenzl cost and has to be consaously managed to ensuze that
demand and supples are not affected The szl of talang the operation of sunes mto ransom by the transporters to rise
the transport rate 3= apparent and therefore, solely wlving on them 13 not & conadered option

The Company purchased cotical number of trucks to deplov i the respécteve munes in order to carb the =k of Jocal
tippers/ tmnsporters taling undue advantage to mflate the rate by himdenng the nune operation.
G. CEO EVALUATION

The Board azzeszes the performance of CEO annually The azsessment 1z carned out m towo asess> annoal compact 80%
and leadership 20°% weightage

Performance Based Vanable Par (PEVP) for the CEO 15 hnked to bus performance and paid based on achievement of
the rating approved by the Board.



H. BOARD EVALUATION

The evzluation of the performance of the Board and its commmuttees 15 undertaken anmually The members are assessed
for the:rr dedicaton. preparedness for the meetings. professional and ethical attnbutes. teamwork and contebutions
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ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

AASBB: Accounting and Auditing Standard Board of Bhutan

BAS: Bhutanese Accounting Standards
CEO: Chief Executive Officer

CID: Citizenship Identity Card

CWIP: Capital Work-In-Progress

DBO: Defined Benefit Obligation

EIR: Effective Interest Rate

FécA: Fmance & Administration

FCCA: Fellow Chartered Certified Accountants

FVTOCE:  Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income
FVTPL: Fair Value Through Profit & Loss

IASB: International Accounting Standard Board
IFRS: International Financial Reporting Standards
ISA: International Standards on Auditing
NPPF: National Pension & Provident Fund

Nu.: Ngultrum

OCE Other Comprehensive Income

P&l: Profit & Loss

PO: Purchase Order

PPPE: Property, Plant and Equipment

PUC: Projected Unit Method

RAA: Royal Audit Authority

R&D: Research & Development

RGoB: Royal Government of Bhutan

RoC: Registrar of Companies
ROCE: Return on Capital Employed

SME: Small and Medium-sized Entities

SPPI: Solely Payments of Principal and Interest
SMCL State Mining Corporation Limited

TDS: Tax Deducted at Source,

i
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3\ Dechok & Associates Private Limited
*| Auditing, Accounting and Tax Services
Thimphu : Bhutan

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Shareholders of State Mining Corporation Limited (SMCL)

Opinion

We have audited the financials statements of State Mining Corporation Limited ('the
Company’), which comprises the Statement of Financial Position as at 21 December
2022, and the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Cash Flows and the
Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended, and notes to zhe financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies,

In our opinion the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2022, and its financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Bhutanese
Accounting Standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing
(I5As). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in e Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of this report. We are
independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our aodit of the financial statements in Bhutan, and we have fulfilled our
other ethical requirements in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
Opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

The Company has transitioned to BFRS 16, Leases from 2022 and had opted to apply
modified approach which permits restatement of Right of use assets and lease liability
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as at the beginning of the date of application of the standard i.e. on 1/1/2022.
Our Opinion is not modified in this respect.
Key Audit Matters

Key Audit Matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the year under audit. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

For the year under audit, we have not come across any issue, except our observations
mentioned under Management Report section of the Report, which in our opinion
requires mention under this section,

Other Information

The management and the Board of the Company is responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included in the Director’s
Report (but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon),
which is expected to be made available to us after the date of this audit report.

Cir opimion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information identified above when it becomes available and in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or

our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

When we read the Director’s report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the
Financial Statements

The Management is résponsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with Bhutanese Accounting Standard, and for such internal
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control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing these financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so,

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial
reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or ertor, and to issue an
audit report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with [SAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of audit in accordance with 1SAs, we have exercised professional judgment and
maintained professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

i. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, to design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and to obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one tesulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omission, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;

ii. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control;

iti, Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management:
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iv.Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s
ability to continue as a going concern; and

v. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the management, among others, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during the audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken lo eliminate threals or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters, We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse conseguences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

As required by Section 266 of the Companies Act of Bhutan 2016, we enclose the
Minimum Audit Examinalion and Reporting Requirements as Appendix I with
statements on the matters specified therein to the extent applicable.

Further, as required under Section 265 of the Companies Act of Bhutan 2016, we report
that:

SN BEPGHET 2002 STATE MGG CORPOEATEN 1 TWITED

B



i We have obtained all the information and explanations to the best of our
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purpose of the audit:

ii. In our opinion, proper books of accounts have been kept by the Company
insofar as it appears [rom our examination of those books;

iit. ~ The Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Comprehensive Income,
Statement of Changes in Equity, and Statemnent of Cash Flows dealt with in
this Report have been prepared in accordance with Bhutanese Accounting
Standards (BAS); and

iv.  Based on the information, explanations and management representations
received during the course of our audit, the Company has complied with
other legal and regulatory requirements.
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REPORT ON MINIMUM AUDIT EXAMINITION REQUIREMENTS

General:

a) To the extent applicable, the company adheres to the Corporate Governance
Guidelines issued by Druk Holding and Investments Limited(DHI),

b) In our opinion those charged with governance and the management of the
Company has pursued a prudent and sound financial management practice in
managing the affairs of the Company as it revealed from our audit.

¢) The financial statements of the Company are prepared to the extent applicable by
applying the Bhutanese Accounting Standards issued by the Accounting and
Auditing Standards Board of Bhutan (AASBB),

d) The Company has maintained proper books of accounts and the financial
statements for the year ended 31st December 2022 are in agreement with the
underlying accounting records,

¢) The Company has maintained the applicable registers as specified under Section
228 of the Companies Act of Bhutan 2016.

) The Company has fulfilled its obligation social and otherwise as entrusted to it.

g} The Company has computed the amount of tax correctly and the same has been
reflected in the financial stalements.

For Mining Companies

1. The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars including
quantitative details of fixed assets. The management had conducted physical
verification of fixed assets for the period under audit and no material
discrepancies were reported to the audit team on such verification.

2. Fixed assets have not been re-valued during the year.

3. Physical verification of finished goods, stores, spares and raw materials were
conducted at the end of the financial year, and the closing stock of Ni.
385,855,566.00 was reported as at the year-end.

4. As informed to us, the procedures of physical verification of stock followed by
the management are reasonable and adequate in relation to the size of the
company and nature of its business.
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2. As per the physical verification report, no material discrepancies were noticed
during the physical verification.

6. As informed to us, the Company has a reasonable system of recording teceipts,
issues and consumption of materials and stores and allocating materials
consumed to respective jobs.

7. As informed by the management, quantitative reconciliation in respect of major
items of raw materials and finished goods are carried out at the end of the
accounting year.

8. There were no obsolete, damaged, slow moving and surplus goods/ inventories
as informed by the management.

9. Not Applicable as reported in clause 8 above,

10, An amount of Nu. 7,032,517.04 being the difference between the book value and
the physical value during physical verification were written off by the
management. No approval from the board was obtained.

11. On the basis of examination of available reports and on the basis of information
provided by the management, we observed that stocks are valued at lower of
moving/weighted average price of the stocks at different locations and the net
realizable value. The basis of valuation of stocks is consistent with that of the

previous year,

12. The company has not taken unsecured loan during the vear from other parties
under the same management. The rate of interest and other terms and conditions
were prima facie not prejudicial to the interest of the company.

13, The company has not granted unsecured loan and advances to companies and
other parties which are ultra vires to the Articles of Association and others
relevant Acts and regulations.

14. Advances granted to officers/staff are in keeping with the provisions of service
rules, No excessive and frequent advances were granted and accumulation of
large advances against a particular individual was generally avoided.

15. In our opinion and according to the information and explanation given to us
during the course of audit, the company has established an adequate system of
internal controls to ensure completeness, accuracy and reliability of accounting
records, to carry out the business in orderly and efficient manner, to safeguard
the assets of the company as well as to ensure adherence to the applicable



rules/regulations and systems and procedures.

16. It has been explained to us that there exists a reasonable system of autherization
at proper levels and an adequate system of internal control commensurate with
the size of the company and nature of its business, on issue of stores and
allocation of materials and labor to jobs.

17. As per information given to us and on the basis of examination of books of
accounts and records, there is a reasonable system of competitive biddings,
quotations and negotiations, commensurate with the size of the company, and
the nature of it's business, in respect of purchases of goods and services
including stores, plant & machinery, equipment and other assets, and for sale of
goods and services.

18. (a)As per the information and explanations given to us, there were no
transactions for purchase and sale of goods and services made in pursuance of
contracts or arrangements entered into with the directors or any other party
related to the directors or with the companies or firms in which the directors are
directly or indirectly interested. Transactions between SMCL and other DHI
companies are disclosed in the notes to financial statements,

(b) This clause is not applicable in view of observation in clause (a) above.

19, In our opinion, the expenses charged to the Company accounts appear to be
legitimate business expenses and we have not found any personal expense
charged to the Company.

20.The  company  had  determined  certain  fixed  assets as
obsolete/ damaged / unserviceable during the year. Provision lor loss has been
made in the accounts.

21, As explained by the management, there is a system of ascertaining and
identifying point of occurrence of damages of material in stock during loading/
unloading/transportation, in storage and during handling, etc. so that
responsibility could be fixed and compensation sought from those responsible.

22.In our opinion and to the best our knowledge and belief and as per the
information and explanations provided to us by the management, the company
is maintaining reasonable record for production of finished goods and adequate
physical safeguards exist to prevent unauthorised or irregular movement of
finished products from the company. There are no by-products.

23. The Company does not have any by-products, however, the company is
maintaining reasonable records for sale and disposal of realizable scraps where
applicable.
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24. On the basis of tesl checks of records, the Company is generally regular in
depositing rates and taxes, duties, royalties, provident funds and other statutory
dues with appropriate authorities, Provision for corporate tax is reasonably
adequate and the company has made necessary adjustments to compute the tax
as per the prevailing tax laws, rules and regulations of Bhutan.

25. As per the accounting records, the company had undisputed amounts payable in
respect of rates, taxes, duties, royalties, provident funds and other statutory
deductions which were outstanding as at the last day of the financial year as
follows:

1 Tax Deducted at Source 2,458,713.00

26, The company maintains mine-wise cost centres, therefore there is no need to
allocate man-hours utilized to respective jobs.

27. There is a reasonable system of price fixation taking into account cost of
production and market conditions.

28. As stated lo us the credit sales policy is reasonable. No such credil rating of the
customers is there m place.

29, No such commission agents have been appointed. Therefore, the clause is not
applicable to the company.

30. According to the information and explanations given to us, there is a reasonable
system for continuous follow up with debtors and other parties for recovery of
outstanding amounts. Aging analysis is carried out by the management as and
when required for information and follow-up.

31. The management of liquid resources particularly Bank balances are adequate as
no excessive amounts were [ying idle in non-interest bearing accounts. No
excessive amounts were found withdrawn from loan accounts leading to
avoidable interest burden to the company.

32.In our opinion and on the basis of available records and information, the
activities carried out by the company during the year are prima facie lawful and
introverts to the Articles of Incorporation of the company.

33. In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us,
the company has a system of approval of the Board for all capital investment
decisions taking into account the technical and economic feasibility of such new
ventures,

34. The company has established an effective budgetary control system.
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35. This clause is not applicable to SMCL.

36. The details of remuneration, commission and other payments made in cash or
kind to the Board of Directors including the Chief Executive Officer by the
company are disclosed in the related party disclosure in the notes to the financial
statements. No payments were made by the company directly or indirectly to
any relatives including spouse and children of any Director or CEO during the
year.

37. According to the information and explanations given to us, the directives of the
Board have been complied with.

38. The Company is not listed on the Royal Securities Exchange of Bhutan Limited
and therefore the transmission of price sensitive information does not arise,

39. Proper records were maintained for inter unit transactions, arrangements and
Services.

40. Proper Agreements with reasonable terms and conditions are executed for hire/
lease of machineries by the company from other parties.

COMPUTERISED ACCOU G ENVIRON T

1. The organisational and system development controld and other internal controls are
adequate relative to the size and nature of computer installations.

The company has adequate safeguard measures and back up facilities exist.

3. As regards back up facilities and disaster recovery measures, we are given to
understand that the backup files are kept at different locations.

4. The operational controls are adequate to ensure correctness and validity of input
data and output information.

5. The measures to prevent unauthorised access over the computer installation and

files are adequate.

6. During the year 2022, accounting data was migrated from old e-mines system to
updated version of e-mines,

GENERAL:
1. Going Concern Problems:-
The company's present operational and financial data indicate that the company is

healthy, and the accounts are prepared on the assumption that the company is a
going concern.
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The company in our opinion is in a position to carry on its business and is not likely
to become a sick entity in the foreseeable near future.

2. Ratio Analysis:-
Details are given in Exhibit- 1.

3. Compliance with the Companies Act of the Kingdom of Bhutan:-

As.confirmed by the management, the Company has generally complied with statutory
provisions of the Companies Act of the Kingdom of Bhutan 2016 concerning conducting
of meetings, filing requirements, maintenance of records, issue of shares, raising of
loans and all other matters specified in the sald Act. A compliance of all items listed in
the compliance check list and compliance calendar is attached with the audit report as
an annexure.

4. Adherence to Laws, Rules and Regulations:

The audit of the company is governed by the Companies Act of Bhutan, 2016 and
the scope of audit is limited to the examination and review of financial statements
as produced before us by the management. In the course of our audit, we have
considered, based on our test checks, the compliance of the provisions of the said
Companies Act, relevant to the financial statements, to the best of our Imnwiedge
and belief. We are unable to state whether the Company has been complying with
other applicable laws (other than the said Companies Act), rules and regulations,
systems, procedures, and practices.

For Dechok and Associates Pvt. Lid.
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STATE MINING CORPORATION LIMITED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS ON

31-Dec-22
Particulars Notes] 31-Dec-22 31-Duec-21
ASSETS
Mon-Current Assots-
Property. plant and equipment ZA BR0.005, 705 451687, 288
Intangible asset 28 428,272 6h4, 740
ROL! Building 2C FOu_H61 =
Capital work-in-progn=s i o 50,930,779 Fl.A61.504
Explomtion & evaluation cosi 2E 5.278.31 5.278.231
Wi Diovolopinent Fd 11 428,567 3,571,713
Treade & other recvivable 3 41627020 21,260,154
CHer non curment anspots L] 4,328,458 4,328.45H
Defiermsd tak Assets 5 . TAH4 AT
Total non-current assel T14,826,594 556,086,576
Current Assgis-
Inventorics 4] 385,855,506 M4 686,099
Tade & other recaivable 7 688,217,618 U AN, 143
Cashiand short - termm Deposiis -] 440,068,735 1,138,976 868
Other current assels 9 994.232.453 352046565
Tolal current assel 2,508, 374,372 2,300,189, 651
Total asnel 3,223,201,266 2,856,276,270
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Share capribal 10 293,990,000 293,990,000
Hiesenves & Surplus 1.7530.674,241 1637 114717
Total Equity 2,047,664,241 1.931,104.7217
MNop=current lHabilities
Doferred tax Hability 11 &, 140,031 4,047,120
Employes beoef it obligathons 2 15,558, 404 B.205.429
Longterm Bormowing 13 82,223,174 50,334,043
Loane Lialsliiy 14 1 A0 378
Total non=curmment liabilities 58,381,950 B2, 586, 592.00
Current liabilities
Trade arnd other payables 15 A3, 6347 T4, 724 270
Shatt berm sin phoyies el 16 4,665,560 2667 448
Ovther currend [ lilisi= 17 1L.OZ8.012.736 THE3.70R.643
Shori-term Bomowing 18 70400 1.484 599
Total current liabilitios 1LANTAS55,044 862,584,960.35
Total of equity and labilities 3,223,201,266 2,856,276,270

The above accompanying noles form an integml part of Financial Statements,
Significamt Accounting Policy angd Notes of Finandlal Statement 1- 42

As per our eport of ever date
M/s. Dechok & assoclates Py, Lid For State Mining Corporation Limited

Chartered Accountants " . %
% . - .
Masheo Katma Yezer Rayd  Kerang Jamitsho —
a—ﬁ""" Chairman CEO

Plage
Date
State Migs Mfice: _
State Mining Corporation | BHUTA | Linied
Regd. Office: Sym-:
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STATE MINING CORPORATION LIMITED

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD

31-Dec-22
Particulars Noles 3-Dec-22 31-Dec-21

Income-

Reverme from sale of products 19 4,638,082,165 3.709.951.211

Orihisr imeomae 20 727,204,025 519,224,807
Tatal Income 5,365,286,190 4229176018
Expenditure-

Changes in Inventories of finished goods 21 (35.751,653) 115,156,584

Miniiing Cost 22 1381251602 | 1,020,576,067

Operation & Maintenance Expenses 23 267,978,666 172,995,451

Depreciation and Amortisation 2A-2E 79,962,581 52,197,995

Employes Benefit Expenses 24 172,678,484 134,419,667

Finarce Cost 5 10,247,284 9,187.824

ECL Cost 26 7910128

Othier Expenses 27 67,528,559 41,572415

Selling & Distribution 28 561,549,888 111,450,588
Total Expenditure 2.513.355,569 1,957,967.591
Profit/{Loas) Before Income Tax 2,851.930,621 2.271.208,428

Income Tax Expenses

Current tax 926,111,374 500 18,600

Droferred tax 5,092,900 3,282,545
Profit/jLoss) After Income Tax 1,920,726,347 1,568,286,983
Other Comprehensive {income)/Loss

Actuarial Gain/ (Less) on post employment

bonelit oblizations 2,550,592 2,130,207
Net Other Comprehensive [Income)/Loss 2,550,592 2,130,207
Total Comprehensive Income/{Loss) 1,918,175,755 1,566,156,776
Basic and Diluted E.ITTI].I!EI per Share 29 [EE] 533

M/s.Dechok & associates Pyt Ltd
Chagtered Accountants
M. phu

For State Mining Corporatior Limited

-

| ‘_‘\‘“,{\r 0

Dasho

Yezer Rayd Kerang Jamtebo-
Chalrman CEO
Place’: Chief Exevative Offices
Date : State Mining Corporat
Chairman Sumitse - BHUTAN Lim
State Mining Corporation Ltd.
Regd. Office: Samtse; BHUTAN
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STATE MINING CORPORATION LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW FOR THE YEAR ENDED

A1-Dec-22
Parbiciilam B1-Dec-2022 31-Dee-2011
Nt Profll Defoee Tax 2851931611 2,271,208, 428
Adjustment for )

Deprectation and amortization 799025517 521970995
Actuarin] G (Loss| on post employment bened i obligaisoms (2,550,5%2)] (2,130,457
Add Back Mowiskaris 1460378
Deprecinition Adjostments in the trial and system 240,182
Provlabon fog Deferved bax (A 252 HAS)
Changes in Working Capital:

Adjustment for

Incrotse in Esvwinonresival Bomd (20 353 518)
Dhatfonad Taw Aot TABAAYT
Employee Benefil T.ong Term TASLYTY

Adjustmemt in SOCE (8.277.231)

(Frervame) / Dicroaie [ Frwventory {71 16%A6K) 43,0717 390
(lem=sa) ) Dacmase in Tmde & Other Recervables (93,737 ATH) 130,438,630
(Trcmsse)/ Dheonstae in Olhor Cumens Assets {228,177.13)) (23,590,974}
(Frermasel/ Decrovan in Mon - Clumed Asscls {5 e 402
(Tieromnial S Decrense i Trede & Other Pavablos RO9R2.0O0F7F 20930097
(Trereane) )/ Decrmse inShort - Tern Employer Benefits 1998112 {108,241}
{[1ereased/ Decrmase in Otbey Crrment Liabilidlis {ﬁﬂ’l,ﬂﬂ?.lﬂ'!_lb_ 35950 552
Cash Generated from Operall oas 1,852 168,187 37,717,440
Ligs @ Tax Paicl {413, B50.874) (8,67 R
Myt Canh used in Operating activities (A) 1,439.312.513 2,165,349 550
Cash Flow (ron Investing Activities
Purchase of Fined Assets and Capltal Work in Progress (226,056,379} (237, 766.399)
Met Cash used in Inmtim Activities !E Wl %}"E:ﬁt
Cash Flow frem Finandng Activities
Proceed from long term Borrowing (18,110 869) {10,730, 5277
Pioceed. from shont Teosn Borsowing (714, 599) (300, CHME 10
Prividdemd Pasd {1,793,339.004 {364 547, 600)
Cash flow fnom F‘I:ni:ndm Activites | C) {1,012 164,048) (675 258 227)
MNet !mmii i“'““"'! in Canh & Cash Es'ni‘\'-llltﬁll ih-&ﬂ‘ﬂ-l:l (594 908.133) 1,256, 204,925
| Cash & Cash EninimE at the b«ﬂ‘ ing of the year 1,038,576 468 BIAH1,933
Cash & Caah equivalents at end of peciod 30,068,735 I 1008 976 868

MAL Dechok & assnclites Pvi Ltd
Charferemd Acvcountanis

For State Mining Corporation Limiled

Mouotith
Me. Yeshi Yoxer  Kexang lamits®G
TFartner - - E!h.ulmun CEQ
Plhice % Chninmn CH Excoutive Office:

: | 1 sifl . 7
ouee Vel 1% suateMiing Cororation Ltd, <y, &lmfw Limited

A gy Resd. Office: Samtse; BHLITAN
N~/
LV, ST

SO AT REPORT 1053
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STATE MINING CORFORATION LIMITED

Statement of Changes in Equity ason

¥1-Dec-22 Ampunt in Nu
No. of
Description Equity E""(':‘:::::" f:::::: Total
Shames
Walance at 01 January 2020 2.939,090 291,990,000 W7 7RLE7R [ GAL771 478
| Change in Equity for the vear L
Isyire of sham capital S00,000 - - :
Profit for the year - | S8 286,983 1 568 286,983
Other comprebensive income - 2,130,207 2,130,207
Total comprehienslve income for the yvear - 1570417190 1570417190
Dividersd paviment « |- 364,547,600 |- 354547 600
Balance at 31 Decomber 2021 2839,900 293,580,000 1,637,114,717 1,887,641 468
Charge in Equity for the year
linuiw of sham Capilal
Profit for the voar = 1,920,724,347 1,920,726 347
Other comprehersive inconte - 2,550,5%2 2,55(1,592
Total comprehensivie Incoms for the year - 1.918,175,755 1925, 176,539
Dividersd payaent - 1,795, 319,000 |- 1793390 000
Ritaln Exming B.277.251
Balance at 31 December 2022 2,939 900 293,990,000 1,753,674,241 | 2.047.664.241.44
Incroasn/ Decrease in Equity S48%

Thés is the Stalemernt of Changss in Equity referred to m our report of even date

Ms.Dechok & associates Pyl Lid
Chardered Accountanis
Muotlihang, Thimphuo

For Stale Mining Corporation Limited

e

Kezang Jamtshe———"
CEO
/ Chatrman Ehi"'f E‘MIM Office-
Place - State Mining Corporation Lid. S::"-‘ Mmm; na 1
trate : Rugd, Office: Samtsa; BHUTAN ntse ; BHITAN
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Note 1: Significant Accounting Policies

i. General Information:

State Mining Corporation Limited (SMCL) Is incorporated as public limited company
under the Companies Act of Kingdom of Bhutan 2000 on 31st December 2014,

The company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Druk Holding and Tnvestroent (DHI) and
ultimate subsidiary of Ministry of Finance, Royal Government of Bhutan,

The principal activities of State Mining Corporation Limited (the "Company”) cover the
extraction and marketing of minerals. All significant operations take place within
Bhutan. The ultimate parent is the Royal Government of Bhutan.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in Bhutan. The
address of its principal place of business is Gurung Basti, Samtse: Bhutan,

These financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 were authorised for
issue by the Board on..........

il Basis of preparation:
+ Compliance with Bhutanese Accounting Standards (BAS)

Financial Statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Bhutanese
Accounting Standards (BAS) as issued by the Accounting and Auditing Standard Board
of Bhutan (AASBB) and with compliance with section 244 of Companies Act of Bhutan,
2016 the Accounting Standard Rules for Companies in Bhutan 2012

« Use of Estimates and judgment

The preparation of Financial Statements in conformity with BAS/BFRS requires
management o make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application
of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, the disclosures of
contingent assets and contingent Habilities at the date of financial statements, and
income and expenses during the period. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised
and in future periods which are affected.
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The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are:
» Fixed assets: critical judgments are expected period of use, condition of
the asset,
technological advances, regulation, and residual values.

¢ Actuarial valuation of employee benefits: expected uptake of the
gratuities, accumulated leave liabilities and the discount rates used in the
valuatiots,

* Assets relating lo mining: Certain plant and equipment and intangible
costs are expensed using the units of production method. Estimates are
made regarding the expected reserves of minerals and that markets and
selling prices will enable the profitable operation of the company.,

* Provision i5 made for future costs to be incurred at the hime of the
restoration and rehabilitation of mining sites. These are based on the best
estimate of the probable cost and the operating life of the mine.

» Expenses for searching for mineral resources, determining the technical
and commercial viability of extracting mineral resources are recognised as
exploration and evaluation assels.

* Functional and Presentation Currency

ltems included in the financial statements of the company are measured wsing the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company operates. The
functional currency of SMCL is Bhutanese Ngultrum (Nu), which is also the
presentation currency.

« Foreign Currency

Transactions in foreign currency are initially recognized in the financial statemerits in
functional currency using exchange rates prevailing on the date of transaction,
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the
relevant functional currency at the exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date,
Foreign exchange gains and losses are generally recognised as profit or loss in the
Statement of Income. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the Statement
af Comprehensive Income on a net basis within other income or other expenses.
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« Materiality and Aggregation

Each material class of similar items is presented separately in the financial statements.
ltems of dissimilar nature or function are presénted separately unless they are
immaterial as permitted by BAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. Notes to
Financial Statements are presented in a systemalic manner which ensures the
understandability and comparability of Financial Statement of the company. Materiality
assessment also involves making sure that information that is important to the users is
not obscured by immaterial information, or by aggregating material items that have
different natures or function.

The materlality threshold benchmarks, specific level of materiality for individual
balances, class of transaction or disclosures are guided by DHI's guidelines on
Materiality.

s Historical cost convention

Financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for following:
o  Financial Instrumant- Measured &t fair value

e Assets held for sale, if any, which are measured at fair value less cost of disposal.
e Defined benefil plans- Measured at fair value

« Current versus non-carrent classification

The Company presents assets and liabilities in the Balance Sheet based on
current/ noncurrent classification,

An asset is classified as current when it is:

1)  Expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in normal
aperating cycle.

2) Held primarily for the purpose of trading.

3) Expected to be realized within twelve months after the reporting period,

4) Cadh or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to
settle a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.

All other assets are clagsified as non-current.
A liability is classified as current when:

1) It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle
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2) It is held primarily for the purpose of trading

3) Itis due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or

4)  There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at
least twelve months after the reporting period.

All other liabilities are classified as non-current,

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and
liabilities,

ii. Property, Plant and Equipment:

All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation
and impairment, if any. Cost includes purchase price, taxes and duties, labor
cpst, direct financing costs, direct overheads for self-constructed nssets,
borrowing costs, other direct costs incurred up to the dale the assel is ready for
its intended use including initial estimate of dismantling and site restoration
cost. Land received as grant from the Royal Government of Bhutan is accounted
for at Nominal value.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or récognised as a
separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Campany and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognized. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income
statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets |s calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Asupl Clasy Useful Life
Pro Plant and Equi i
Plant & Machinery 10 Years with 20'% residual value
Furniture & Fixture 10 Years
Safety Equipment 4t07 Years
Survey Equipment 4107 Years
Motor Vekicle 10 Years with 20'% residual value
Building & Civil Structure 10 to 30 Years
Lab Equipment 4107 Years
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Office Equipment 4 to 7 Years
Data Processing Equipment 4107 Years

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
the end of each reporting period. The company has stopped capitalizing Arts, Portraits,
Curtains, and Carpets from the year 2015. However, the items under the above
categories that had been capitalized prior to 20015 are continuing as assets in the books
of the company as they are in good conditions and usable.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the
carrving amount and are recognised within 'Other Income' or 'Other Expenses' as the
case may be, in the income statement.

iii.  Intangible assets:
Computer software:

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to
acquire and bring to use the specific software. These costs are amortized over their
estimated useful lives of 4 to 5 years as shown below.

Asset Class Useful Life

Software 4 years

SATP Sultware 5 years

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmed are
recognized as an expense when incurred.

Other Intangibles:

Other intangible assets comprise exploration and evaluation costs of mines. These are
amortized using the units of production method.

iv.  Impairment of Non-financial assets:

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrving amount of an asset or its cash-
generating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are
recognized in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognized in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit or group of
tnits on a pro rata basis. '
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Reversal of impairment loss:

An impairment loss in respect ol goodwill is not reversed. Impairment losses
recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that
the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrving amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or
amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized directly in  other
comprehensive income and presented within equity.

v. Capital-work-in-progress (CWIP):
Expenditure on material, labour, contract expenses and directly attributable cost such as
employee costs and overheads, project management expenses incurred during

construction period for executing the particular project are included in CWIP till these
are capitalized.

Indirect expenditure and overheads incurred is expensed off and are not capitalized.

vi.  Financial Assets:

Initial measurement

At initial recognition, the Company measures a financial asset at its fair value and in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

Classification and subsequent measurement

For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets of the Company are
classified in the following categories:

* Al amortized cosl;
= Al fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI): and
s At fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL)
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The classification of financial assets depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows. Management
determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

Financial assets measured at amortized cost

After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest rate (EIR) method. Amortized cost 1s
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or
costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included in finance
income in the profit ar loss, The losses arising from impairment are recognized under
profit and loss account. This category generally applies o other receivables, security
deposits, cash and cash equivalents, etc.

The Company's financial assets includes loans and trade receivables,

Financial instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

A financial instrument shall be measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income if both of the following conditions are met:

a. the objective of the business maodel is achieved by both collecting contractual
cash flows and selling financial assets; and
b. the asset's contractual cash flow represents SI"PL.

Financial instruments included within FVTOCI category are measured initially as well
as at each reporting period at fair value. Fair value movements are recognized in other
comprehensive income (OCI).

Currently, the Company does not have any asset classified under this category.
Financial instruments measured at fair value through profit and loss,

Fair value through profit and loss is the residual category. Any financial instrument
which does not meel the criteria for categorization as at amortized cost or FVTOC! is
classified ar FVTPL. Financial instruments included within FVTPL category are

measured initially as well as at each reporting period at fair value. Fair value
movements are recorded in statement of profit and loss.
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Impairment of financial assets

The company recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all financial
instruments except for financial assets classified at fair value through profit or loss.
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the company expect to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The ECL is recognized for 12
months and lifetime, The ECL is determined based on the significant increase in eredit
risk ‘SICR’ and objective evidence of the impairment over the life of the financial assets,
For compultation of ECL, the standard prescribes a rebuttable presumption of 30 days
past due as approach for ECL and 90 days past due as default. As a practical expedient,
the standard allows simplified approach for ECL computation of trade receivables,
contract assets and lease receivable.

The company has trade recelvable only and applies DHI's group accounting as follows:

* 30 days past due trigger point for SICR

¢ 90 days past due as default point.

e Simplified Approach for computation of ECL for trade receivable.
It is also further guided by guideline on ECL issued by DHL

vii. Financial Liabilities

All the financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and , in case of loans,
borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs,
The Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at:
e Amortized cosl
e Fair value through profit and loss
The company’s financial liabilities are measured at cost.

viii. Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities or income and expenses are offset and the net
amount reported in the Statement of Financial Position and Statement of
Comprehensive Income when, and only when the entity has a legal right and is allowed
by the Standard to offset the amounts and intends either 1o settle on a net basis or to
realize the assets and settle the liability simultaneously, Loans and receivables are non-
derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
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an active market, They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than
12 months after the end of the reporting period. The Company's loans and receivables
comprise 'Trade and Other Receivables', 'Other Financial Assets', 'Advance to Ministry
of Finance', 'Other Assets' and 'Cash and Cash Equivalents’ in the Statement of Financial
Position.

i Inventories:

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value, Cost is determined
using moving average price for the materials procured from third parties and on
standard cost basis for finished Goods. The cost of finished goods comprises design
costs, direct labor, other direct costs and related production overheads (based on

norma) operating capacity),

Obsolete and defective items of inventory are identified at the time of physical
verification of inventories and where necessary, adjustment is made for the same,

Stock of salvaged and scropped materials has been statod at nil value. The amount
realized on disposal of such stock is accounted for under Other Income.

% Cash and Cash Equivalents:

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand,
deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts. The cash flow for the
period shall be classified as operating, investing and financing.

The standard provides option for preparing the cash flows from operations either by
dirget method dr the mdirect miethod. The Group Accounting Policy prescribes the indirect
method of presentation of the cash flow statement.

Al Current and deferred income tax:

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax, Income tax expense is
recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized
directly in equily or in other comprehensive income. Current tax is the expected tax
pavable on the taxable income for the vear, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date,
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The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted at the
balance sheet date in the countries where the Company operates and generates taxable
income.

Deferred tax is recognized using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary
differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes (Tax Base).

Deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit/loss.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary
differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been pnacted or
substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they
relate to income taxes levied by the tax authorily on the taxable entity, further they
intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and
liabilities will be realized simultaneously. A deferred tax asset is recognized to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the
temporary difference can be utilized.

Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.

xii,  Borrowing costs:

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a
major capital project, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use are added to the cost of those assets, until such time
as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings and
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are
inctirred.
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xili. Employee benefits:

a. Retirement Benelits:
Under defined contribuation scheme:

As required by National Pension & Provident Fund (NPPF), both the employee and
employer make monthly contributions to the provident fund, which is a Defined
Contribution Plan, equal to a specified percentage of employee's basic salary. The
company has no further obligations under the plan beyond its monthly contributions,
The company does not have any legal or constructive obligation to pay further
contributions if the NPPF does not have sufficient assets to pay all of the employee's
entitlements. Obligation for contributions to the plan is recognized as an employee
benefit expense in profit or loss when the contribution to NPPF becomes due.

Under Defined Benefit Scheme: Post Employment Benefit (Gratuity)

In accordance with the SMCL Service Rule, the company provides for gratuity, a
defined benefit retirement plan (the Gratuity Plan) covering all employees, The
Gratuity Plan provides a lump sum payment lo vested employees, at retirement or
termination of employment, an amount based on the respective employee’s last drawn
salary and number of years of emploviment with the company, The company’s net
obligation in respect of the gratuity plan is calculated by estimating the amount of
future benefits that the employees have eamed in return for their service in the current
and prior periods and that benefit is discounted to determine its present value. The
calculation is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the projected umit credit
method and amount of obligation is provided in profit or loss and invested in the form
of deposits with financial institutions of Bhutan. Re-measurement gains and losses
arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are
recognised in the period in which they occur, directly in other comprehensive income
and presented within equity.

Under Defined Benefit Scheme: Other Long-term Employee Benefit (Accumulated
Leave Liability):

The accumulated leave liability is accrued an the basis of actuarial valuation for the
leave balance over and above the annual leave encashmenl against each employee as al
the end of the year starting from the year 2015. Changes in leave balance, interest and
changes to actuarial valuation are charged to the Stalement of Profit or Loss.
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b, Other Short- Term benefits:

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and
are expensed as the related service is provided. All employee benefits payable wholly
within twelve months of rendering the service are classified as short-term employee
benefits and they are recognized in the period in which the employee renders the
related service. The Company recognizes the undiscounted amount of short-term
employee bepefits expected to be paid in exchange for services rendered as a liability
(accrued expense) after deducting any amount already paid.

c. Other Long-Term Benefits

As per company's Service Rules, the employee who have rendered minimum five years
of service are entitled to one-month basic pay as repatriation allowance and one-month
basic pay as transfer grant at the time of leaving the service. One-month basic pay for
this purpose is the pay at the lime of leaving the service. The company's net obligation
in respect of this terminal benefit is calculated by estimating the amount of benefits that
the employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods,
and that benefit is discounted to determine its present value, The caleulation is
performed annually by a qualified actuary and amount of obligation is provided for in
profit or loss, The plan is unfunded.

xiv. Provisions and Contingent Liabilities:

Provisions are recognised when the company has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of past events, and it is probable that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be relinbly estimated. Provisions
are measured at the management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to seftle
the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. If the effect of the time value of
maoney is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects,
where appropriate, the risks specific o the liability. Where discounting is used, the
increase in the provision due to the passage of lime is recognized as a finance cost. A
provision for anerous contracts Is recognized when the expected benefits 1o be derived
by the entity from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its

obligations under the contract.

Contingent liabilities are not recognized but disclosed for all possible obligations that
arise from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of

the entity.
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x¥v.  Revenue recognition:

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. The
Company recognizes revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured;
when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity; and when
specific criteria have been mét for each of the company’s activities, as described below:

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. When a loan and
receivable is impaired, the Company reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable
amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted at the original effective
interest rate of the instrument and continues unwinding the discount as inlerest income.
Interest income on impaired loan and receivables is recognised using the original
effective interest rate.

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

i Government granis:
Grants from Royal Government of Bhutan (RGOB) and other organizations relating to
costs are recognised in the income statement over the period necessary to mateh them
with the costs that they are intended to compensate.
Grants relating to Property, Plant and Equipment are included in non-current liabilities
as Deferred Government Grants, Depreciation on the assets is charged against the grant
and not to the Operating Statement.
Grants in kind are recognised at their nominal value.

xvii. Leases (BFRS 16)

The company assesses all the lease contract at inception as to whether it contains a lease.
If the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified assets for the period

‘of time in exchange for consideration, then a right-to-use asset is recognized, and lease

liability is recognized for all future lease payments.

ITATE M SRR PORATION T TWITET) ANNTIAL SEPOET 2327



The lease contracts for periods less than 12 months and low value leases are directly
recognized to profit and loss accounts,

i Right-of-Use Assels

The standard provides the optien to present right-of-use assets as separate item on the
balance sheet or as a part of PPE or Investment property. For subsequent measurement
of right-of ~use, the standard provides choice to adopt cost model or revaluation model,
or fair value model.

The company follows the DHI group account policies as follows:
* Apply exemption on short term and low value leases as defined in the guideline
for materiality.
* Present the right-to-use asset as a separate item on balance sheet.
* Subsequent measurement based on cost model for leases recognized.

ii.  Lease Liability
The company recognizes lease liabilities measured at present value of lease payments to
be made over the lease term, The lease payment includes fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incéntives receivable, variable lease payment
thal depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual
value guarantees,

The company has adopted BFRS 16 from 1% January 2022 and has opted to apply
maodified approach option on transition as permitted by the standard,

xviii. Earnings per Share

The Company presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary
shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary
shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during
the period. Diluted EPS is delermined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to
ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares,

xix. Comparative information:

Where necessary, certain comparative information has been reclassified and updated in
order to provide a more appropriate basis {or comparison.
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Note 3: Trade & Othermeceivable{Non-Current)

Particulars 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-21
Ermviranmient Restortion Bond 41,543 970 21,260,154
Total 1,543,970 21,260,154
MNote 4: Othernon current assets
Marticulars . 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-21
|t nonmortised minimg cost 4,328 458 4.378,458
Tolal 4 328458 4,328, 458
Note 5: Deferred tax
Particulars 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-21
Property, planl and éguipment
Deffered Lax assel ( Thning Différnoe) - FABL 427
Total - 7,484,427
Note 6: Inventories
Particulars 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-21
Inventery (Valued at cost MATF, Moving Average Price)
Stock of Firshed Goods 124,792,273 46,289,525
Stock of Work in Progress 2,665,384 125,392,886
Consumable & 5parcy 178,394,904 143,003,688
Tatal 385,855,566 314,686,099
(71,169,467.82)
Note 7: Trade & Other meoeivable{Current)
Particulars 31-Dho-22 31-Des-21
Recetvables from Customrs 487,593,644 202,708,531
ECL Less Allowance - SMUCL (7.970,128)
M her Receivables 6,106,926 ‘
Teivestirert 200,000,000 300,000,000
Security Depaosit Placed 24237176 1,771,612
Total 686,217,618 594,480,143
Mote 8: Cash and Cash Equivalents
ParHeulam 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-21
Cash-in-hand 420,363 IHY 34T
Bank Balance
Bank of Bhatan Ltd A/ ¢ No- 100891887 2237359 5.967.681
Bank of Bhutan Ltd A/ c No- 200194054 107,945,198 243,566,790
Benk of Bhutan Led=201550717 - SMICL 13,750,390 29,585,208

Bank of Bhotan Ltd-201766760 - SMCL
Skort term deposit

72,806,565

173,888,741

394 470,819

Bank of Bhutan Lid - 203084061 - SMOL (15,553 228
Bank of Bhutan Ltd - 203125974 - SMLOLL 40,789,564 12.268,804
Bank of Bhutan Lid - 203833862 - SMCL 18,367,529 36,684,785
Blwitan Natione! Bank Lid - 0100149610007 - SMCL 6,981,671 5,542,206
Cimiit ity Bank - SMOL - SMCL 2,790,354

Total 410,068,735 1,038,976,868
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Niote 9: Other Cusvidnl Assels

Paiticulams 3] -Dhpy 33 31-Dec-21
TS 4, 5048 i, 415 680
Axdvance Tax 120,194 214, 10D B0
Advance to Emoplopee 415,095 (103,430
Advaree to YVemidor 12531700 41244 480
Phipald Explries 25,450,664 24,157 057
Linnes & dadvancs bo lntm ok E AT e

Tokal W4 332453 AR LA SEE
Note 10 Capital

Particulam M-Dac-22 3 -Dhee-21
Apthorised Share Capital
HIGOO{R Ecuity Shares of Mo 100 cach 1J0600,0060, (40
lssued, Subscribed and Pald-up
2009900 Bt sluares @ M 100 sach folly pald up e e TN 40,5 LG

2493 90 000 243,940, Do

Temms/Rights attached 1o equity shares

The Conmrpany has ooty ome class of Bgubly Shates g o par villue of Na 100 per shane. Each holeliesr sF Bauity Shires
I eiatitlold to ot viske porshame, L Wi evend of Liguldaskoi of the Compay, the haldiss of Dgubly Shuies will be endiiled

b reEvE TR Ewbetn of Aine Compaiy attior dii b ton of all preforestind amogot. The dstrbation will be in

propurtion.to the member of Equity Shores held e thie shansb ldee

Mite 11: Doferned Tax Liability

Partiemlams 3-Dec-22 I1-Dec-21
Dhefersed Tas Liakiliiy-:
Thmtig DHilferrrces b nmpect ol-
Orphiemsinng
Hacogrrimed  chueringg, vinet Yoot i neliathan 16 Property, Mand ol 140,63 4047 18
Equrpment; Intanginhe Assets and A mortizration of Explomition
anid Esaluat i costs
Tintal 9,540,020 04T, 1)
hliste 12 b flt abligatlons
Parifculars 31-Dac-22 N-Dpe-21
Pest Envplovment Beielit (Gratulty) 4951943 1,083,451
Lismg-tarm Employe: Dol { Leove Encashument) EANH 408 o B2 1
Gratukty Bank Account - SMCL ity L
ost Employee Benedits (Otheni) 22977 2. 19057
Tital 15,558,408 B.205.4219
Mole 13 lnuﬁ_lerm Hmuwiui
Fartizular 31-Dee-22 31-Dhec-21
Turm Loars 3237174 R34 48
Todal 122,174 0,308,041
MNote 14: Lease Llabilite
Farticulam J-Dec-22 N=Dec-21
Lease of Carporate Hend Offioe 1.4641.378
Tistal 1,460,378 =
& ITTATE MENTNG fORPOEATIN 1T IWITED
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The company has lease agreement for corporate head office entered on 1% April 2015
with Department of Geology and Mines (DGM). The inifial term for lease is 10 years i.e
from 1% April 2015 to 1* March 2025. The company has recognized the lease of building
as Right-of- Use Assets separately in the balance sheet and Lease Liability under ron-
current liabilities,

Set out below are the carrying amount of Right-of-Use Assets recognized and
movement during the vear

Balance as at 1st Dec, 2021 -
Addition -
Balance as at 31st December, 2021 -
Amount restated through opening balance 3328,094.11
Depreciation restated through retain earning 2,246,465.52
As at 1st January, 2022 1.081,630.59
Addition during the yvear -
Depreciation Expenses 281,768.34
Balance as at 31st December, 2022 799.862.24

Set out below are the carrying amount of lease lability recognized and movement

during the year; _

202 2021

Amount restated through opening balance 1,874,433.77 -
Accretion of Interest restated through retained
earning :
Rastated paymaent adjustment through Retained
earning B
Asat st January 2022 1,874433.77 -
Payment 414,05592 -
Balance as at 31st December 1360377.85 -
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Note: The maturity analysis of lease lability fs disclosed unider Note 31

Sinancial fiabilities.

Following are the amount recognized in profit and loss:

(B)- Maturity of

Amount recognized in profit/loss account 2022 202
Depreciation Expenses for Right-of-Use Asset  28],768.34 -
Interest on Financial lability 172,183.99 .
Total amount recognized in Profil/Loss 453,952.33 -
Nobe 15: Trade and Oiher Payableos
Particulam 31-Depe-22 31-Dec-X1
Emiployes Payables 532 400 1340851
Sy Crexfitomy « Dimesitic 54,725,544 709,393
Sarnd ry Cresdibors = Inbermatinmal I3 a7 4.7 843
Advance from dustomar 1.7H1 0620 27T
Stk Roceived bud not (il 331401 215410
Total 81,706, 347 T 00
Note 16: Shod: termn emplovee henefit
Marticulan M -Dee-X2 .-Dge-21
Pt Erployoment Terndi (Granrity) 1,620,635 1,502,740
Shirt-term Empliyee Benelil {Leave Encashmani) 644,005 T4, TR
35 Lhabiliby foe Other Pavabde - SMCL 2097 621
Tntal 4,665,560 2667 448
Mot 17 Other curmiint llabilides
Pasticulsms N-Dee-22 F1-Dec-21
TS Prayahle 2ARHTIN LEdG,059
Other Liabilities 749,000 X3 57.503,994
Provesion lod Income Tax S2hAT1.574 E40,67E, 00
Sevurity Deposlis 24533, 940 24,507,573
Rt tstabhi vy Aoy 475 468 152415
Tital 1,028,012,736 THI,TOH, 643
Note 18: Shod-term Bormowi ng
Panticpiars 31-Dpe=22 31-Dec-21
Loun Pavable witlin 12 moeiks - SMCT TIUAM 1 48, 599
Tatal TT0A00 1,484,599
Note 189 : Revenue frum sale of prodicts
Particulam ¥-Dec-22 31-Dee-21
Sale of Coal O 02 611,149,450
Sake of Quastise LLNBINITLY &1,048 917
Sale af Gypisim UP6.TAR ABL Y25 468,370
Sale of Dolomizo 2EB0C145.380 2.111,373,543
Total 4.635,082,183 [ _3,700,951.213
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Nete 20 : Cihar lvcome

Particulams V=212 31-De=2]
Sle of mpect stome TTAI 2,Mm4.51
Cambe aor { L) Froem Sabes: T o Lo, (971,477 {1431.935)
Lhguiclited Damipges 5,960,012 1,921,375
Fritimest Frot ahastt bebem dhisposit 8470, 12 HT 452
Miceflammiies Trima) EEA VL] p i el
Cuest Hpuse Charges F11, 189 254058
s fromn Walgh bridge 70738 AT I
Salex - Lowding Charges 8115340 1,033,529
Sales - Trsing partathon Chirpes 425 880373 X4 535465
Hale= -« Liscit] Tranepomation Chanis SAS (0 B 1u7 e 3T
Total T20.204,005 | 519,224,807
Mot TH ri'.]uﬂﬁﬂ in Inventory of Finishsd Goods
Particulas 31-Dee.22 I31-Dec-21
Coat uf Coond Marnafac i [35.751.653) 115,158 5K4
Tutal 135.75L653)] 115,155,554
Nie 23 + Mialny Cant
FParticulan 1 -Thec-23 31-Dec-11
Drilliog & Blasting Cost F5.30T A0 2L 78LM5
Mineral Extracthon onsin G e g 1] 74,1818
Efrvimenmen) Mavagaimesi Cosk < SMCT, 245,219 LT
Envitomment Restombion Exvperiis - SKICL 121,331 1A, 754
Afiriera | Reaimimg Ciot BE2S 0N 82201
Mutnl'i'mnpmm!im Cina) SAT 49D Mo 7617676
Royaly 26440000 | 214,321 844
Mineral ot - SMCL 35 950,607 21 AF9N
Surfsce Hest - SMCL ™H.675 1,609 594
Witjgen 041,28 AaTe 408
Projedt A facted Family-Coniparmation -CWIP - SMIDL 255,70 .
Liconse fop - SWCL I3 TRA,748 SLWL 0
Envimmmeental Arsessment Foes - SMUCL 153,766 126,200
Total 1T I51,600 | 1,000,576,067
Mote IV iO0peration & Malnlesance Expennes
Particulam 31-Dwe-22 FleDpe=21
R & M- Bullding - SMCL 2344 883 3738414
K& M - Formar, Fixtinm ansd Bguipments Al K1 §53.086
R & M- ¥iehicho - SMUCL 20,08, M2 14,604
Vebicke Rurmire Experses {POL) - SMOL 55,332,125 15,734,070
R M - PMant & Machinesy - SMCL LR BT ) UL E
POL Pland & Nochibery 107808 58 i, 451
Pusver cosseiinghion fof erashing plant - SMCL 280 343200
Irmurance - ShCL A7 LT3 755
Al Mainlersn=ERF 1,856,525 1, 200, L1005
Hire ed Seveen Plant - SMCL 7029526 A, L3, 707
Total 267,978, 666 172, 995451
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Note 24: Employee Benefits Expenses

Patticulars 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-21
Payroll & Related Expenses
Salaries wages and allowances 74086444 58446402
Alleveances 30,158 5%, 31,675,655
Lipawve |'ravel Concession - SVICL 4,873,040 077009
Ovestirme Payment 10,402477 7,990,119
Performance Hased Vamable Pay - SMCL 11,336,030 9584151
Uniform expennes 4,220,068 IASP TS
Staff taintng and development expenses 26b,70% 15,109
Post Employment Benefits .
GPF Congribution (Employer) - SMCL 11,122,434 B 724780
Gratuity Coneributiom - SMCL 3,265 686 26370
Repatriation Allowanos - SMCL 34T 264,250
Bonus 13,598 (% -
Carriage Charpes - SMCL 1,500,474 480 850
Other Employee Benefits -
Leowe Encashmont - SMOL 5918340 5510207
Long Term Studies - SMCL . -
Tramsfer Giant - SMCL 011265 £5(1L888
GPA 613,763 515,626
Emplayee Recognition Awand -SMCL . -
Takal 171678484 134,419 667
MNote 25; Finange Cost
Mariculam J-Dec-22 3 -Deec-21
Interest on Secured Loan 8,906,760 9,184,561
Irterest (Rol! Building) - SMCL 172,184
Loss on Foreign Excha nge 1, 168340 264
Total 10,247,284 9187 424
Nole 26: ECL Cost
Particularm 31-Dec-22 51-Dee-21
Lo on impairment of Trde nceivable 770,728
Total 7,910,128 -
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Maote 17! Other Exponses

Razicand Diluled Earnings per Share

Fartigulars 31-Droc-22 31-Dec-11
&) Administrative & Other Expenszs
Al et st - SMICT, 1A%, 839 591,901
Andir Fres & Evpersen 420,000 772
Hank Charges and fess for servkoos pold to Bofil 1510600 1A Ot
Board mwtityg expermes and siltlng fees dd4,90a L Oy
Biwihs. amd Purmdicals I8THD 17007
Couninication intemet dod telepilune charss 1,748 B4R 23521570
Crmanlting Fom 120000 45,000
Corporate Sucial RBesponstbility 13297719 6,428 296
Dematsom 15,000 L
Electricity Charges T AN 36,701
Fres & Sulseription I3 5T 6N 6,107 031
Gansieral e Admbnlatmiive Evpiveses 2415084 2358267
Hitpz/ Dihir Service Charges Ui 511 665,206
Howpitality & Entirtalament Expesses OO 1412248
Lonpe fe Rental Chamgos 2AN0314 189,242
Meeting & Rotmeat Exporses 357,109 456,079
Olice Supplics, Printiig & Statiore o 33,712 2,445,7R]
Registra bon & Remuwa | Fras RS0 430
Stall Wellare and Engagement Experises L3774 £35,62%
Winrkirigs lunch 6,311,170 LAWY
Sub-Comniil lee misstanj expomes and sk Ties 297 344 28547
Tax & Levey G000 .
Travel-Fareign 106,399 .
Traved-Local 6,095,556 6,735 47
Tatal (avh) - 7,528,589 41572415
Mote 28: Selling & Distribution
Particilar 31-Des3? 31-Dee-21
Frvight Clubwieds - SMCT, 519202542 6 S84 b
Loading & Unloading Charpses - SMTL 19804418 20,548,104
Murketing & Selling Bxpenes - SMCL 1,202 553 1,205 832
Terreportation from Mines to Motamga - SMCL 10938270 -
Foreien Bank Chargos - SMCL 341,006 120,165
Tutal 561,519,568 41,859,568
Mate 29: Lanings Pes Sharo
Farticulars -Dec-22 30Dy 21
Net profit attribatoble to eguity nharehoiders 190TINIT | 1,568.286,953
Isued and outstanding ordinary shares at thebegemises of the year 253950 2,939,500
Effoct of ondinary share ssued dunng the yoar . .
Welghted average number of ordinary shares 2,939,500 2,939,900
Murinber i shaves at fhe e of the vear
Whighted avrrage number of ondinary shans in baue
BS3 333
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Nobe 3k Capltal management
{ﬂm&mmﬂ

The company's objecttves when managing capital are to
|. safeguard their ability o continoe os a going concern, 40 that they can continue to proviidi retums for

sharoholders

and Benelits for athir stakehidders, and

"W Mainkain an optomal capotal strectoce to reduge the cost of capial,

(All amounts [n Nu , unbess otherwlie stated)

The Company is formed as a whally et subsidiary of Druk Holding & lovestments Limided
(D) Company muanisges e share capiial (ssued and cabseribed glong with shareholser's fund appearing In
thee financial stitement i capital of the company.

Mote 31: Financial Risk Management

The Company’s activities expose it to credit risk, fiquidity risk and market niok {i.e. fonegn comency risk, interest rate risk and

price: risk),

This niske explains thie sounces of ek which the entity is expesed ti ind how the eritity managos the risk and the impact of it in

the fnancial stiieniendy.

Risk Exposure arising from Measurement Management
Creddit risk Cadh and cash equivalents | Agng analysis  [Diversification of  customer
trade  rocefvables,  financial|Credit ratings base
nesils melmired o anvoelised
laquidity rek Torrowings  and  oiher|LCanh [ow foracasts | AvalaBiiy o commitied
Habyilities fcilithes
ket risk ﬁiﬁmﬁg)‘lfumﬂy [Cash flow [Currently the Company has
forecasting krarsadtions in Indian,
Bangladesh  and Local
curmemcy and Hmely updates
un the wachange rats aml no
eredit stles in fonstgn comency
(£ Lrnterieist Risk, Working Capital Limil
Sensilivity analysks
(A} Credit rlek

Creadit riak i the rink thal counterparty will not meet its ubligations undes a financial instrnument or customes contoact, leading
s & Fnanial loss. The Company i exposed (o credit elek from its operating sctivibies primarily trade and othir recvivables

from domestic clslomens anly,

il Trade receivabies

The Company’s rade reostwables are non-tnivrest bearing and ame genetally on 3 days o 60 days eredit term. Outstanding
customer receivablies are regularly monitored. The agring of trade neativables 25 of balance sheet date & less tham six
nenths Except bn case of Dunigsaen Coment Corporation Limiled (IDOCL), being the slster company, credit teem has been

enivnided,
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Wl pwme [l mihuigi

| Credil i goren nidins cileadsied eariler i UMTA RN ]
B, calenimall = 3072 | TR 2 1) L

[Tial ECL .o Alloweasce I MR 58

i, LI
T

i Fnaneial fnstrumsmis s cebh deposin

LUk rihk frorm Dadancs soidly banks s frgreial (padifothiena s ruonsged by i Compain”s Finance & Acoounis
Drpertrment. For banks and Hineeacial et ihatimm ondy igh mated b/ bkt aee nr'|'|||-|,!| Finana) Aascls ame
commhidered 1o b of poesd Eualite and them b po sgnibe o oedi ik

(B} Liguidity risk

Licpuidiey: risho 18 the misk that an entity will encournder difficully in meeting ohligations associatied
with fimancial Taabilities thnt are set Hed by defivering canh or another financia | aneet
Management monitors miling formesasts of the Company's lguidity position and cash and cash
ejuvalnmis of bhe basis of expeted canh thivws, Thin & gencrally performed inaccondionce with
prescthne ard Hmits set by the Board of Company,

(i) Maturities of financal labilibies

e tabdes Intow analyes the Company's flnancial liabdlibes into relevam maturnity groupings
biised can § ey

contractual maturities: for all (inancial Hakili e

e ameunts disclosed in the table are the contractual undibeoy nted cash fows. Balances duc
within 12 munths eqqual thdr camrying balinces as the impact of discounling ks not sigmificant

Contractual matuntios of financial liabilitics Laoss than 1 ‘Moare than 1

31 December 20 VeEar ViEare

Trade and Other Pavabiles A3, 706347 83,706 347

Tatal financial liabilities 83,706,347 - 83,706,347

Contractual malurities o nancial liabilitios cid than 1 Muore ihan |

3 December 20021 YOATr yoars
Trade and Ol Pavaliles 74724270 74.724 270
Total financial Habilities T 728270 - Vi, 724,270

(AL amounts in Nu ., unless otherwise stated)
{C) Market risk

(1) Farclgn currency risk

Fivmsbpn Cuirnerey elale in the risle that tho i valoe or fotoed cash flows of o findbeis] instroment
will fluctuate beeause of changos in forvign exdchanige rites

The Comipany operbes in Mu or [ndisn curmmey and dollar, thare i oo Doctoation in the
exchange rate between Tnd lan cumency amd Local cumency. Hmee s not exposed 1o fomeign
curmency rink from Rs & Nu, The risk of forign currency wan takim cane by the exchaonge rate
timely updated by the Royal Monetary Authority with the Financtal Insthutions

(i) Interest rate risk

Irvierest mabe viak bs the oak that the fale value pr fulure cash flows of 8 financial Insbriamest will
Auctuate becatise ol changes in market Interost rates. The Company s exposed to the sk ol
clinnges in'market intenst miey primarily to the companbes working capital limit olsligation with
floating interosis

The company fas onby foved mted bomrwings and ane carmed a amotized cost and lence not

subject 1o interest risk s dofined in BFRS 7
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32 Allotment of shares have been made Lo Druk Holding & Investments Limited (DHIL) who is holding
100 percent shares of the Corporation. During the vear, no amount has been received from DHIL as

additional equity injection in support of business expansion,

33. Term loan of Nu 80 million was availedd from National Pension and Provident Fund (NPPF) by
pledging DHI guarantee in 2018 and there is no such loan availed from any financial institutions in

financial vear 2022,

34, All the balonces against delrtor, creditors and advances are based on the invoices raised to/ raised from
and adwvances paid respectively, which are not settled as at veporting date. The company has already
initiated the process of avatling confirmation from various parties. Pending completion of the same
including reconciliation, any further adverse adjustments to be made in these accounts are not presently
ascertainable at this stage. The Directors are of the opinion that he effect of process may not be significant

gid material in relation to tlese fnancial stteminis,

35a. There are no contingent hiabilities for the Company as on 31st December 2022,

35b. Capital Commilment

Particulars 022 2021

2A. 'roperty, Plant and Equipment

Plant & Machinery 82.264,250 156,934,800
Furniture & Fixture 2,767 904 2,175,600
Salety Equipment 1,019,000 42,100
Survey Equipment 11,693, 898 5,474,000
Muotor Vehicle 11,825,000 34 560,000
Buildimg & Civil Structure 560,997,172 | 155403471
Lab Equipment 3,230,000 1548021
Office Equipment 8832475 B30, 700
Datn Processing Eyquipment 7934257 13,157 405
Total Property, Plant and Equipment 699,563,960 | 370,426,097
IB. Intangible Assels

Software 10000000 EE.EHJU,U{H]
Total Intangible Assets 10,000,000 5,000,000
Balance to Accounts 708,563,960 | 375,426,097
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6 Welated Marty Disclogere;

Pie Chiepinte b ehially svwmiad subssidlary o Dok Hibbegd & Byt (Rl St ol Bt wdartikiog). The Compeny har ne s bsidiry Ssngqums,

Thiie Ceinnh ey’ cabinuleiret st o thie i 6 DAS 24 1 Ropal Cleneriment of B 8 bn o posltio of qonbrol ober i aoll s petards thie Bl Ui e

of Tihatan and 1 comtretied compsmion orpomation. as meinsgd partize for e goerposn o i disclmans reguimd by BAG 3

373 Name of Bie selated parsies antd Helating

a Tk Dlehdings fe Dot (DR Halding Compiany

Az Mame of the fellow Subsidiaries
Whanid Eralt Center E1d WECL)

uvgsim Polvimens Lid{TOPL)
Bhnten Power Carpomtien Ll fBRCLY
Harik ol Hhusan Eid | ReALy

Bhustan Bognd Produet'Lid {B81L

ol R o T

10 Wluban Telecwm e (BT
1L Dk Ale Cirppbirat e Lt (DCL)

[errgsars Cemapt Corpiimtion e {RCCL)

Provk Ginan Pawee Crerparation Lid (DGEFCL)

Maliarl Rasid s Doen et Compi ko L (MRDCL)
Srate Tradimy Corporadiom of Bhulan TalETCEL)

12, Comtroctiin Development Corpotil b LTI

13 Thmophe Tech Fark L (TTTT.)

L agachn Hysd o Corpom twan' Lized

B Bhutar Briand Engrirtt Limitoe!

16 Hoofulu tematisnal Limiled

VL Thimpla Tethrark Linvitil

& Tangnibgl Fydn Enengy Limibed

19, Penden Coment At horiby Limed
373 TnarsacHons wil b fellye s beidamy

[ Mamg of mlated pocty. , Description’ 2022 ol
1 Cazrnmier fees 210,108 PR
2. Clivdend: Padd 1, 7F 339,00 k54T 000
Dl Hulilings & Yndeshrrer (WEID-Hold ey Coupary |5, R Ml gebiitt AT 5 444351
4 Shiins held by DI 263, 900, 1 ZeE s 0y

SGurante fnes payeble
Bharik of Whuian LU (oL i liank Charges f Toes paic o BolL 1,3Th6%h ‘1 .43{1':;%9
7. Bk Balwree with HOBL J 20,876,347 LA TS
) . 1, Induied & Tieloplwne Charped 1 s, S 2.540.73

Bhuran Telecatn LiA DTL) 2. Intiriet TmE!du s wlbl;ﬁr W 550 T
ings & Al X g . 5 z 1T
Ltate Trading Corpomion ol Bhutan Lid |STCHL) ;E::?LT:;?:;—?!I’;:“IW“ af viehiele i :ifi.:;;
1. Sl sl S0k T2 55E A2 ATH AT
[hrragdetit ey €20t Cemphombion Limdiad 2 Bale of Cypsum 34 AL, 010 R
' F.Reoelvalle Prom salo of cunl) wypdiim 454 624,455 T
1. Electeciny Chavges Fasd b THI Compiries 3,133,248 A e
B tam Paivenlr Cappomatlion Lke (HPCT ) . Inimgrmip Toide Piyehlos 23T X410
A Advanee Paymwnt= 3T 502
Wakival Faspuoes Devialeprment Corponation Limibd L Precorornent of gand bsnd wiod . LI
1 Sobe ol Coal FEAGES 19,440 402
Pepedan Cement Authurrily Limetesd 2. Saliy of € rpesnom B, 805,710 Ti 7 807
A Intercompnay trade mesivalde 15,080,734 FETTY
ik Cleert P Corporatlen Lid [ BGICL) 2 Inbires=h e bnrnimgs-l niersgp = 7 Gtk
L y . I, iibes impande Tragis Payvahi AN 144, [
EhHAAL THch TR LA [FTEL) 3 Tty R L7 TP ot Ol L A5A,525 TA11 044
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EH

ATA Lkt of Key M gesinl Pomionsel

My Danho Karma Yerer Ravdil Chalmman

M Thindey Mamgyef, Divector  fult 340 Manch)

Mr: Gy Wb, Dhirector

M Kerag Deki Director (Ll 30k Manch)

M. Jipme Darji. Additional Dinector(eill 3Uth Mapch)
Rashe Chrwng Bl New Boand Directar)

- M kinley Yangzom
o Mre Pagany Dol
10 Mr. Fom Tibering

I
p
3
4.
5. Mr Kemangg Faouis b, Dimector
]
7
N
w

1 M. Kesang Dema(18th Apal o 14th Dec)

373 Related parties wilth whom transactions have taken plade dorirg the year

Noard Directors -

o e Sinting Fees (2023) Sinfing Fes (3021)

1. Nlr Dhasheo Karma Yezer Haydh Chaloman S, 000 S5 000
2. My Thinkey Namgyel Disector (0l 30th Maschi 20,000
3. Mr. Geliew Norhu, Disetor £8.000) &8, 000
4 Mp Kesang Dekic Director (rill 30th Marn:h) 28,[00
5. Mr Kezang Jamisho, Dlincior B T BR, 000
6. M Jigmie Dorl, A ditkemnal Diessctoe]nl] 308 Mareb) 24,000
7. Dasbo Chumwny Binsind Mew Bawpd el KLLMD R0
8 M kinkey Yangzrom 20,000 0,100
. Mr. Pasang Dadi A8 T 48, 0iK
10, Me. Pam Tlm—ﬂ_m U, DY &4, DN
11. Mrs Eesang Dema(18th April to 141h Dec) 28,600

Tutal A6, 000 568,000

376 Notansactions were done with relatives of key managerial pervonnel during the year,

377 Tranwactions during the year.

3. Managernal Remuneration

1,31 1,000

Baske Pay 1,225 800
Allowances 1,398,950 1,108,220
PVERA amd Bories A48 (00 302 A0
CTF Contribation [Employer) 207 000 |R3.B70
Travlling expense of CEO 266,952 337,750
Snting fees 1o Board of Direciom of (he company &, A, O
| Leawy Erncashiment 115,190 1T B
Léave Travel Concesshar 15,0400 15,000
Cirand Total 3,876,932 3356440

3. Auditon remuneration

Auditors Foes

Auditon Eupogmes* RPN h 1 N r ]
Total 420,000 §T7 200
“Prowisiomal including RAMA and Tax Audi
4. Wisthe necessa )y centain compaiative iformation hos been reclaisified in'onder Lo provide a oo
appropmate banls for comparison.
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Beiste Al 2 Falr vilue meanurenienis

TN mimninianite L N, il ol beesslie statedh

s ol Lo, h}-w
I’ . D23 11 -Dhee-21 1-Ju =31
i ”
= PVEL [PV O] Amatined dont| Fvar [voct] s moshnis oo | vt [rvocy] At
Fiiamn
mriiil e
writy Duposii . ; ;- :
Fatirirrmerss Brstaratios [lomd - . HHERFmL - - D2mas= | - 13,6 A1
i ey Dbl | e enie . . AN e [ . bl AT . = va B W
towtey Dhrtdrers Intirnaninngl . . .
Pheiciiy' Dhigitiith 1wl - - LT AT - - (Ao Bk - . 144007
e Revrvvi . wlmeas] - ; 2 : .
Phepreit dve e s . - annmeeuma | - . . N ;
{anh annl Caih Rigsi tiatnsits . HIDATIEL - R AR a0
Total financial e=sels . = 197 Teddsn | - = 1EMTITAss | - . ST
TFnsiervia] Jimli! i e
Sy Dhprs|in - . PSRN . . =TRATE ] ] M arax
Eroprheyes Payibies - . E31akm - - LA W0 - - nran
Biitermamn Moy . - AT, Jm : Theuis . = WL
Py Crisdiboe = Disssillie - . LTI . . A - - IH T N
Frren Lo Seveem P [nsierataihors T A0 . L LN ] E WA, o
brkert: Expiftprrs Heririweg - SANCL - - SO g (10w
et i i .
;Hl-li MimuraiallLabilities - . r AL 040938 - . r BLARLEYY = - pIR NI A ES

(Al antounts in Nu , unless otherselss stated)
{1} Fair valoe higrarchy

This seition woplains the jodgémnts and stimaties made In ditisrmining the fals valiis of th Hinaniisl
mstrpmends that ame {0) reoognised and moamuweed o Gur valve omd (1) messted ot amorsssd ooml and foe
wehibity fair walises are disciosed bn the financial Mstements. To provide an idication about the refiability of
the dprirts usied (n determinime fie valoe, the Company bas dasifled jts Branclal mstraments ot e
Vhres: bevieds prvscribed indor e acooufing stanidan),

Lervel 1t Lavwl | Blerarrliy inchudes fmanclal st mossned ying quotad prioes.
Level 2 Th fair valuw of financial b ramiints (it aie ok tilod in o active marked b detisrminind uiing

wil|mation techmigques which masmso the use of ebyervahle markot st and oy g HHle s posaitde on
entity-apecific esthmstes. 1 all significant [nputs sqiived o Gl valie an lnstrament gre olissvalle, the

It i ebuded inleved 2

Level B F ot or maioo of the slgmibicant ipobs oot Basked o bsisrvalle markiel daio, i inshrinminl is
inethuded in et 3

{li} Valuatinn technigque wied to determine f3ir value

Speeifh valiation tohitques sl to vanee francal nsmiments mehide
* bhr fde valie of the ineneal irsbrumends is determbned usbig dscounbed cash fow utalysts,
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{iil} Fair value of financial assets and Habilities measured at amortised cosl
31-Dec-22 F1-Dec-21

Carryving

Marticulars Carrving
Aimounl Amoianl

Fairvalue Fair value

Financial assels
Environment Restoration Bond 41,343,970 41543.970 21,260,154 1. 260.154
Total financial assets 41543970 | 41543970 21260154 | 21260154

Tha carTying amounts of remaining inancal assets dnd liabilities are considered to be the sumie as their Bair
valued, due v their short-term notune.

The mir values for fmancal mstruments were calculated based on cash lows discoumed using corrent
bormowing rate . They are classified o8 level 3 folr valoes in'the fair value hierarchy dae to the inchasicn of
unobzervable lipuls including counterparty credit risk

Significant estimates

The farr value of nancial rstroaments that are ot raded inoan active markel 2 determined  asing
valustion bechniques The Company s s jodpemint o select o variely of miethods and  mike
i seporting period. For

adsumprtions that are mainly based on market conditions existing al the end of eac
delails of the key assumptions used and the impact of changs to these assumptions se= (i) above

Swde 13 Dplowsfvom anib evaduotvm

laLanpible fossrss

Copidabee| evriorrtze and evsbibn sl ibe e ) VAT 0 | WLk TR LAATTH]  ATNOIT)

Tidal 0T E i 5,710 | 3088 TTH AT ST
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Gratuity valuation report vl State Mining Corporation Lid.

5.1 DETAILED FINANCIAL EXHIBITS

A. LIABILITY RECOGNISED IN THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

MNu. 31-Dec-2022 31-Dec-2021
Present yalue of define benefit obligation 9,346,230.56 6,800,668.11
Fair value of plan assets 2,790,353.8 3,514,497 44
Funded status - surpius/(deficit) {6,555,876.76) (3,286,170.67)
Effect of asset ceiling - -
Net defined benefit asset/(liability) (6,555,876.76) (3,286,170.67)

B. COMPOSITION OF DEFINED BENEFIT COST

Nu. 31-Dec-2022 31-Dec-2021
Expense recogmised in profit or loss 3,265,686.29 2,659,635.23
Expense recognises] in other
comprehensive income 401.084.8 956,000.3
Defined benafit cost 3,666,771,09 3,615,635.53

STATE MG CORPOEATEN 1 TWITED
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Gratuity valuation report vi State Mining Corporation Ltd.

C. EXPENSE RECOGNISED IN STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

Nis. 31-Deec-2022 31-Dec-2021
Current service cost 3,018,675.24 2,685,992.42
Past service cost .
Loss/(Gain) on settlement -

Interest on DBO 491,184.85 235,319.2
|.ess: Expected interest on plan asset (244,1731.8) {261,676.39)
Expenses recognised in profit or loss 3,265,686.29 2,659,635.23

D, AMOUNT RECOGNISED AS OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

31-Dec-2022 31-Disc-2021

Actuarial (goin) or loss due to experience

adfustments 357,417.36 933,157.493
Actuanal (gain} or loss due to changes in

financial assumptions

Actuarial (gain) or loss due to changes in ) 4.708.56
demographic assumptions PR
Retum on plan assets (greater) or less than

disconint rabs 43,667.44 18,133.61
Expenses recognised as OC] 401,084.8 956,000.3

E. RECONCILIATION OF CHANGES IN PRESENT VALUE OF DEFINED BENEFIT

OBLIGATION
Nu. i1-Dec-2022 31-Dec-2021
DBQ at the beginning of period 6,800,668.11 3,921,870
Add: Current service cost 3,018,675.24 2,665,992.42
Add: Past service cost
Add: Interest cost 491,184.85 235,319.2
Less: Benefits paid by the plan (924,650) {650,915)
Less: Benellts paid by the employer (397,065) {329,465
:;iﬂ;g:ﬁg%ﬁ‘ dueta 157,417.36 933,157.93
Actuanal (gain) or losses due to change in .
financial assumpbons
Actuarial (gain) or losses due to change in y 4,708.56
demographic assumptions
DBO at the end of period 9,246,230.56 6,800,668.11
R
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Gratwity waluation report vi State Mining Corporation Led,

F. COMPOSITION OF PLAN ASSET

Nu. 31-Dec-2022 21-Dec-2021

Bonds (Governmeant/torporate)
Gratuity savings/deposit in

banks/Insurance companias 2,790,3538 3,514 497 45
Equities
Tatal 2,790,353.8 3,514,497.45

G. RECONCILIATION OF CHANGES [N FAIR VALUE OF PLAN ASSETS

N, 31-Dec-2022 31-Dec-2021
Fafr valua at the beginning of period 3,514,497.44 2,542.591.86
Cantribution pald Into the plan 1,379,278
Expected return on plan assets 244 173.8 261,676.39
Benefits pald from the plan (924,650} (650,915)
Eiﬂ::;nu::r::.&en assets greater or (less) than (43,667.44) 8.13581)
Falr value at the end of period 2,790,353.8 3,514,497.44

H. BIFURCATION BETWEEN CURRENT & NON-CURRENT LIABILITY

Nu. 31-Dec-2022 31-Dac-2021
Currant liability 1,623,935.10 1,902,739.76
Non-current liability 4,931,941.66 1,383,430.91
Net Liabitity 6,555,876.76  3,286,170.67

I. EXPECTED BENEFIT PAYMENTS IN FUTURE YEARS

December 31, 2023 1,753,8458.91
December 31, 2024 2,713,697.08
December 31, 2025 2,322 ,059.69
December 31, 2026 2,014,308.44
December 31, 2027 2,986,922.45
Decembar 2028 to December 2032 18 835,843, 88
December 2033 to December 2042 73,206,752.5

J. ESTIMATED TERM OF LIABILITY (IN YEARS): 13.90

S eonmuag
FINITY
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Gratuity valuation report vl State Mining Corporation Ltd.

52 SENSITIVITY ANALYSES

The follow(r g table summar|ses the rezults of sensitivity tests performed on the present valie of the
definad benefit obligation by varying the assumption parameters as listed. The saine model
and valuation methedology as described In 4.4 was employed for this exercise.

Defined Benelt Net effect of Percent

Assumption/Parameter Scenario

Obligation (DBO) DBRO change

* n‘-ﬁ ﬂjgdl p3ﬂ-4? {4“)“3!“} '4;33*

Discount rate Bage rate §,346,230.55 . 0.00%
-0.5% 9,785,943 51 439,?13._ﬁ5 4.70%

+ [0.5% 9,822,805.85 476,575.29 5.10%

Salary growth rate Base rate 9,346,230.56 - 0.00%
- 0.5% B8.904 380.77 (441,849.79) -4.73%

«10% 9.337,556.32 (8,674.24) -0.09%

Mortality rate Bare rata 9,346,230.56 - 0.00%
- 10% 9.354,944.65 8,714.09 0.09%
#0.5% 9,198,474.51  (147,756.05) -1.58%

Employer turnover rate Base rate 9,346,230.56 - 0.00%
-0.5% 9,501,197.87 154,967.31  1.66%

The fallowing chart shows a graphical tepresantation of the above sensitivity analysis,

.00

. 70% B
4.00%
2.00%.
0.00%
-2.00%
-4.00%%
4.33%

1.60%

-

-ulm .
~ LS
-4, 73%

.00
| Employer
Discount rate | Salary growth Mortality rate tumover rate

X
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Gratuity valuation report vi State Mining Corporation Ltd,

6. CERTIFICATION

| certify that the report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions.of BAS 19. To the
best of my knowledge, 1 do not hold any interest, direct or indirect with State Mining
Corporation Ltd. that would impair objectivity of my work.

| am available to answer any questions or to provide explanations or further detalls regarding
the materials contained In this report, Dated 23 January 2023, this version of the report nullifies
all other versions, whether signed or not, preceding this date.

Tandin Dorji

Actuarial Consultant gﬂCONSULTTHG
Emall: tandin@drukinfinity.com I N Fl N ITY
Contact: (975) 1785 8494 || (61) 414 784 944 https://drukinfinity.com
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Earned Leave valuation report vi State Mining Corporation Lid.

5.1 DETAILED FINANCIAL EXHIBITS

A. LIABILITY RECOGNISED IN THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Nu, 31-Dec-2022 31-Dac-2021
Prasent value of define benafit obligation 6,182,412.74 5,393,768.9
Fair value of plan assets
Funded status - surplus/{deficit) (6,182,412.74) (5,393,768.9)
Effect of asset celling
Net defined benefit asset/(liability) (6,182,412.74) (5,393,768.9)

B. COMPOSITION OF DEFINED BENEFIT COST

Nu. 31-Dec-2022 31-Dec-2021
Service Cost . 788,643.84 2,618,079.9
Net interest on net defined liabllity (asset) 227,637.66 :
Immediate recognition of gains/lasses - 4,668,956.74 2,775,689

Other long term employee benefits

Expense recognised in other
comprehensive income

Define Benefit Cost 5,885,240.24  5,393,768.9

C. EXPENSE RECOGNISED IN STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

L [TH 31-Dec-20212 31-Dec-2021
Current service cost 768,643,684 2,618,079.9
Past zarvice cost . - =
Loss/(Gain) on settlement | =
Interest on DBO 227,637.66 z
Expected interest on plan asset _ - =

Immediate recognition of gains/lpsses -
Other long term employee benefits

Expenses recognised in profit or lass | 5,885,240,24  5,393,768.9

4,868,958.74 2,775,689

B
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Earned Leave valuation report vi State Mining Corporation Ltd.

D. AMOUNT RECOGNISED AS OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Nis, 31-Dec-20232 31-Dec-2021
Actuarial [gain} or loss due to experience
adjustments .
Actuarial Jgain) or loss due to changes in
financial assumptions e
Actuarial (gain) or loss due to changes In
demographic assumptions
Retum ort plan assats {greater) or less than
discount rate
Immediats recagnition of galns/losses -
Other long term employee benefits

{1.948.27)

4,868,958.74 2,777,637.27

4, B5B,058.74 2,775,689

Expense recognised as OCI - -

E. RECONCILIATION OF CHANGES IN PRESENT VALUE OF DEFINED BENEFIT
OBLIGATION

Nu. 31-Dec-2022 11-D=c-2021
DBO at the beginning of perled 5,393,768.9 2,775,689
Add! Current service cost 788,643.84 2,618,079.9
Add: Past service cost -
Add; Interest cost 227 637.66
Less: Benefits paid by the plan -
Less: Benefits paid by the employer (5,086,556.4) (2,775,689)
:ﬁ‘p‘;‘;f;éﬁ::‘i;;::jf e 4,868,958.74 2,777,637.27

Actuarial (gain) or losses due to change In
fimancial assumptions

Actuarial (gain) or losses due to change In
demographle assumptions

DBO at the end of period 6,182,412.74 5,393,768.9

. (1,948.27)

F. COMPOSITION OF PLAN ASSET

31-Dec-2022 31-Dec-2021

Bonds (Government/corporate)

Gratuity savings/deposit in
banks/insurance companies

Equities
Total - -

%:Fﬁmmwm&
FINI
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Earned Leave valuation report vi State Mining Corporation Ltd.

G, RECOMNCILIATION OF CHANGES IN FAIR VALUE OF PLAN ASSETS

31-Dec-2022 3l1-Dec-2021

Fair value at the beginning of period ’ .
Contmbution pald into the plan . -
Expected return on plan assets

Benefit= paid from the plan

Retum on plan assets greater or (less) than
discount rate

Fair value at the end of period - C

H. BIFURCATION BETWEEN CURRENT B NON-CURRENT LIABILITY

M. 31-Dec-2022 31-Dec-2021
Current liabllity a4 004,54 764,708.25
Nan-curment lability 5,538,408.2 4.629.060.65
Net Liability 6,162.412.74 5,393,768.9

I. EXPECTED BENEFIT PAYMENTS IN FUTURE YEARS

In. Nu,
December 31, 2023 695,524.9
December 31, 2024 905,704.83
December 31, 2025 658,117.46
December 31, 2026 382,293.58
December 31, 2027 476,422.67
December 2028 to December 2032 2,225,640.22
December 2033 to December 2042 4,990,431.07

J. ESTIMATED TEAM OF LIABILITY (IN YEARS): 9.81

A -
INFINITY
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Earned Loave valuation report vl

5.2 SENSITIVITY AMALYSES

State Mining Corporation Ltd.

The following table summarises the results of sensitivity tests pedformed on the present value of the
defined benefit obligatioh by varying the assumption pararmeters as listed, The same model
and valuation methadology ad described In 4.4 was employed lar this exercise.

Assumption/Paramatar

Scenario

Defined Benelit
Obligation [DBO)

Net effact of
DBO

Percent
chanae

Discount rate

Salary growth rate

Mortality rate

Employer turnover rate

+ 0.5%
Base rate
-03%

+0.5%
Base rate
- 0.5

= 10%
Baso rato
- 1%

+0. %
Base rate
- 0,5%

5,943,259.46

6,182,412.74
6,440,655,63

5,464,012.31
6,182,412.74
5,919,755,64

6,182,412.74
6,182,412.74
5,182,412.74

6,255,007.24
6.182,412.74
§,105,709.06

(239,153.28)  -3.87%
=, 0.00%
258,242,889 4.18%
281,598.57 4.55%
- 0.00%
(262,657.1) -4.25%
0.0 0.00%
- 0.00%
0.0 0.00%
72,5045 1.47%
- 0.00%
(76,703.68) -1.24%

The following chart shows a graphical representation of the above sensitivity analysis.
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Earped Leave valuation report vi State Mining Corporation Lid,

6. CERTIFICATION

| certify that the report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of BAS 19. To the
best of my knowledge, I do not hold any interest, direct or indirect with State Mining
Corparation Ltd, that would impair objectivity of my work.

I am available to answer any questions or to provide explanations or further details regarding
thie materials contained in this report, Dated 23 January 2023, this version of the report nullifies

all other versions, whether signed or not, preceding this date.

Tandin Dorji

334

Actuarial Consultant % [CONSULTING
emall: tandin@drukinfinity.com lN F | N |TY
Contact: (975) 1785 8494 || (61) 414 784 944 https://drukinfinity.com
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Carriage Charge valuation report vi State Mining Corporation Lid,

5. FINANCIAL EXHIBITS

5.1 DETAILED FINANCIAL EXHIBITS

A. UABILITY RECOGNISED IN THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Nu. 31-Dec-2022 31-Dec-2021
Present value of define benefit obligation 2,843,840.07 746, 480.84
Fair value of plan secets
Funded status - surplus/(defict) (2,843,840.07) (746,480.84)
Effect of asset ceiling
Nat defined benefit asset/(liability) (2,843,840.07) (746,480.54)

B. COMPOSITION OF DEFINED BENEFIT COST

Nu. 31-Dec-2022 31-Dec-2021
Expense recognised in proflt or loss 1,056,973.88 348,514.02
Expense recognised in other .
comprehansive income 1,430,385.35 396,B66.82
Defined benefit cost 2,487,359.23 746,480.84

C. EXPENSE RECOGNISED IN STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
Nu. J1-Dec-2022 31-Dec-2021
Current service cost 1,012,855.41 349.614.02
Past service cost

Loss/(Gain) on settlement

Interest on DBO 44.118.47

Less: Expectad interest on plan asset

Expenses recognised in profit or loss 1,056,973.88 349,614.02
NFINITY
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Carrisgn Charge valuation report vl State Mining Corporation Ltd.

P. AMOUNT RECOGNISED AS OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

31-Dec-2022 31-Dec-2021

Actuarial (gain) or loss due to experience
adjustments

Actuarial (gein) or loss due to chahiges in
financial assumptions

1,430,385.35 396,884.28

Actuarial (gain) or loss due to changes In

demographic assumptions (17.46)

Retum on plan assets (greater) or less than
discount rate

Expenses recognised as OC! 1,430,385.35 396,866.82

E. RECONCILIATION OF CHANGES [N PRESENT VALUE OF DEFINED BENEFIT

DBLIGATION
Nu. 31-Dec-2022 31-Doc-2021

DBO at the beginning of period 746,480.84 415,443
Add! Current service cost 1,012,855.41 349.614.02
Add: Past service cost
Add: Interest cost a44,118.47
Less: Benefits paid by the plan
Less: Benefits paid by the employer (390,000) (415,443)
e g ol 1,430,385.35 396,684.28

Actuzrial (gain} or losses due to change in
finapcal assumptions

Actuarial (gain) or losses due to change in i (17.46)
demographic assumptions ’
DBO at the end of period 2,843,840,07 746,480.84

F. COMPOSITION OF PLAN ASSET

31-Dec-2021

Bonds (Government/corporate) .

Gratuity savings/deposit in i
banks/insurance companies

Equities
Total = -

anm
7 CONRTNG

FINITY

SO AT REPORT 1053 STATE MGG CORPOEATEN 1 TWITED



Carrlage Charge valuation report wi

State Mining Corporation Ltd,

G. RECONCILIATION OF CHANGES IN FAIR VALUE OF PLAN ASSETS

[ [TH

31-Dec-2022

Fair value at the baginning of period -

Contribution paid into the plan =
Expectad retumn on plan assals -
Benefits pad from the plan

Return on plan assets greater or (less) than

discount rate

Fair value at the end of period -

31-Dec-20121

H. BIFURCATION BETWEEN CURRENT & NON-CUHRENT LLABILITY

Nu.,
Curment liability
Non-current labillty
Net Liability

31-Dec-2022 31-Dec-2021
1,464,156.98 551,085.27
1,379,683.09 185,395.57
2,843,840.07 746,480.84

I. EXPECTED BEMEFIT PAYMENTS IN FUTURE YEARS

In, M.
December 31, 2023 1,581,209.54
December 31, 2024 1,833,262.28
December 31, 2025 1,515,633.33
December 31, 2026 1,016,118.78
December 31, 2027 1,297,639.47
December 2028 to Decamber 2032 5,777,005.73
December 2033 to Deceimber 2042 12,992,958.79

J, ESTIMATED TERM OF LIABILITY (IN YEARS): 5.78

STATE MGG CORPOEATEN 1 TWITED
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Carriage Charge valuation report vi State Mining Corporation Ltd,

5.1 SENSITIVITY ANALYSES

The following tabie sumrmarises the results of ssnsitvity tests performéad on the present value of the
dafined benefit obligation by varying the assumption parameters as listed. The same model

and valuation methodology as described in 4.4 was employed for this exercise.

: 5 s Defined Benefit Net effect of Percent
Assumption/Parameter Scenario Obligation (DBO) DBO change
+ 0L5% 2,769,7456.95 (74,093.12) =2.61%

Discount rate Rase rate 2,6843,640.07 = 0.00%
- 0.5%: 2,923,116.81 79.276.74  2.79%

: - +0.5% £.933,441.48 B%,601.41 J.15%

m““"“" "'I““i Base rate 2,843,840.07 - 0,00%
= .5% 2,759,333.31 (B4,506.76) -2.97%

+ 10% 2,843 61997 {220.1) -0.01%

Mortality rate fiase rate 2,543,850.07 = 0.00%
- 10% 2,844,063.23 22316 0.01%

+ (0.5% 2,858.316.78 14 476.71 0.51%

Employer turnover rate Baze rate 2,843 §40.07 - 0.00%
- 0.5% 2.828,476.52 (15,363.55) -0.54%

The following chart shows a graphical representation of the above sensitivity analysis.
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Carriage Charge valuation report vl State Mining Corparation Ltd.

6. CERTIFICATION

I certify that the repert has been prepared in accordance with the provisions o BAS 19, To the
best of my knowledge, | do not hold any Interest, direct or indirect with State Mining
Corporation Lid. that would impalr objectivity of my work.

I am available to answer any guestions or to provide explanations or further details regarding
the materials contained in this report. Dated 23 January 2023, this version of tha report nullifies
all othér versions, whether signed or not, preceding this date,

e

Tandin Dorji

g4
Actuarial Consultant % [CONSULTING
Email: tandin@drukinfinity.cam I N F ' N ITY
Contact: (975) 1785 8494 || (61) 414 784 944 https://drukinfinity.com
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Repatriation Allowance valuation report vl State Mining Corporation Ltd.

5. FINANCIAL EXHIBITS

5.1 DETAILED FINANCIAL EXHIBITS

A. LIABILITY RECOGNISED IN THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Nu. 31-Dec-2022 31-Dec-2021
Present valug of define benefit obligation 924,177.06 721,662.64
Fair value of plan assets
Funded status - surplus/{deficit) (924,177.06) (721,662.64)
Effect of asset ceiling
Net defined benefit asset/ (llability) (924,177.06) (721,662.64)

B. COMPOSITION OF DEFINED BENEFIT COST

Nis, 31-Dec-2022 31-Dec-2021
Expense recognised in profit or loss 359,011.33 3X2. 777,44

Expense recognised in other
comprefensive Incame

Defined benafit cost 661,894.42 721,662.64

3p2,883.09 398,885.2

C, EXPENSE RECOGNISED !N STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

Nu. 31-Dec-2022 31-Dec-2021
Current service cost 319,653.52 307.704.84
Past service cost
lLoss/(Gain) on settlement -
interest on DBO 39,357.81 15,072.6
Less: Expected interest on plan asset
Expenses recognised in profit or loss 359,011.33 322,777.44

35 eomuinie
NFTNITY
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Repatriation Allowance valuation report vl State Mining Corporation Lid.

D. AMOUNT RECOGNISED AS OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Nu. 31-Dec-2022 31-Dec-2021

Actuarial (gain) or loss due to experiente

adjustments 302,883.00 398,853.89

Actyarial (gain) or loss due to chanoges in
financial assumptions

Actuarial {gain) or loss due to changes in

demographic assumptions 3131

Return on plan assels (greater) or less than
discount rate

Expenses recognised as OCI 302,883.09 398,885.2

E. RECONCILIATION OF CHANGES IN PRESENT VALUE OF DEFINED BENEFIT

OBLIGATION
M, 31-Dec-2022 31-Dec-2021

DEO at the beginning of period 721,662.64 376,815
Add: Current service cost 319,653.52 307,704.84
Add: Past service cost

Add: Interest cost 39,357.81 15,072.6
Less: Benefits paid by the plan -

Less: Benefits paid by the emplover {45%9,380) {(376,815)
Lﬁfﬁ:gﬁmgﬁzﬁi o (R 302,863.09 396,853,89

Actuarial (gain) or losses due to change In
Anancial assumptions

Actuarial (gain) or losses due to change in - 31,34
demaographic assumptions '
DBO at the end of period 924,177.06 721,662.64

F. COMPOSITION OF PLAN ASSET

31-Dec-2022 31-Dec-2021

Bonds (Government/corporata) =

Gratulty savings/depasit in
banks/insurance companies

Equities .
Total = -

[%%'Emwrimim
NFINTTY

STATE MGG CORPOEATEN 1 TWITED SANNUAL FEPORT 227



Repatriation Allowance valuation report vl State Mining Corporation Lid.

G. RECONCILIATION OF CHANGES [N FAIR VALUE OF PLAN ASSETS

Nu. 31-Dec-2022 31-Dec-2021
Fair value at the beginning of penod .
Contribution pald into the plan
Expected retum on plan assets .
Benefits paid from the plan

Retym on plan assets greater or (less) than
discount rate

Fair value at the end of period - .

H. BIFURCATION BETWEEN CURRENT & NON-CURRENT LIABILITY

Ne. 31-Dec-2022 31-Dec-2021
Current liability 466,731.92 540,018.68
Non-current llability 457 445,14 181,643.96
Net Liability 924,177.06 721,662.64

I. EXPECTED BENEFIT PAYMENTS IN FUTURE YEARS

In. Nu.
Deécember 31, 2023 504,070.47
Diecember 31, 2024 600,332.11
December 31, 2025 482,929.06
Dacamber 31, 2026 307,671.74
Decamber 31, 2027 406,016,69
December 2028 ta Decomber 2032 1,753,242.98
Decembar 2033 ta Decamber 2042 3,953,650.33

J. ESTIMATED TERM OF LIABILITY (IN YEARS): 9.79

o s
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52 SENSITIVITY ANALYSES

State Mining Corporation Lid.

The fellowing table summarisas the results of sensitivity tests performed on the present value of the
delinad benefit obligatich by varying the assumption parameters as listed. The sams modal

and valuation methodology as described (n 4.4 was employed for this exercise.

A = RSN Sce : Definad Bapafit Met affect of Farcient
ssumpion/ Parameater CENAano Uhhgﬂtlﬂn “}BD} DBO IZ!'It'Iﬂﬂl'.'

* EL’S“ gul,l ET-ag Ezi,u:’gu 1?’ '2-49“

Discount rate Base rate 924 177.06 . 0.00%
- (5% 948,817.95 24, 640.89 2.67%

+'[0,5% 952,157.85 27,980.79 3.03%

Salary growth rate Base rate 024,177.06 - 0.00%
-0.5% B97,769.62 (#6,407.44) -2.86%

+ 1% 524,177.06 (0.0) -0.00%

Mortality rate Base rate 924.177.06 ’ 0.00%:
- 10% 624,177.06 {0.0) -0.00%

+ 0.5% 913.42?.45 4,250.39 0.46%

Employer turnover rate Base rate 924,177.06 - | B.00%
- 0.5% 919.653.39 (4,523.67) 0. 49%,

The following chart shows o graph|cal represeditation of the above sensitivity analysis.
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Rapatriation Allowance valuation report vl State Mining Corporation Ltd.

6. CERTIFICATION

| certify that the repart has been prepared In accordance with the provisions of BAS 19. To the
best of my knowledge, | do not hold any interest, direct or indirect with State Mining
Corporation Ltd. that would impair objectivity of my work.

[ am available to answer any questions of to provide explanations or further detalls regarding
the materials contained in this report. Dated 23 January 2023, this version of the repart nullifies
all other versions, whether signed or not, preceding this date.

Tandin Dorji

A3A]
Actuarial Consultant % CONSULTING
Email: tandin@drukinfinity.com | N F | N ITY
Contact: (975) 1785 8494 || (61) 414 784 944 https: /fdrukinfinity.com
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5. FINANCIAL EXHIBITS

5.1 DETAILED FINANCIAL EXHIBITS

A. LIABILITY RECOGMNISED IN THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Nu. 31-Dec-2022 31-Dec-2021
Present value of define benefit obligation 924,177.06 721.662.64
Fair value of plan assets
Funded status - surplus/{deficit) {924,177.06) {721,662.64)
Effect of asset celling
Net definod benefit asset/ (liability) (924,177.06) (721,662.64)

B. COMPOSITION OF DEFINED BENEFIT COST
Nu, 31-Dec-2022 31-Duc-2021

Exponse recognised in' profit or loss 359,011.29 322,777.44

Expense recognised in ather
compraherisiva Income

Defined benefit cost 661,895.42 721,662.64

302,884.13 398,885.2

C. EXPENSE RECOGNISED IN STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LDSS
Nu. 31-Dec-2022 31-Duec-2021
Cutrent service cost 319,653.52 307,704.84
Past service cost
Loss/(Gain) on settlement

Interest on RBO 39,357.77 15,0726

Less: Expected interest on plan asset

Expenses recognised in profit or loss 359,011.29 322,777.44
:_F‘tmnu
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Transfer Grant valuation regort vl State Mining Corporation Lt

D. AMOUNT RECOGNISED AS OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Nu. 31-Dec-2022 31-Dec-2021

Actuarial {gain) or loss dus to experience
adjustments 302,884.13 398,853.89

Actuarial (gain) or loss due to changes in
financial assumgtions

Actuarial (gain) or loss due to changes in . 31.31
demographic assumptions X
Retum on plan assets (greater) or less than

discount rate

Expenses recognised as OC 302,884.13 398,885.2

E. RECONCILIATION OF CHANGES [N PRESENT VALUE OF DEFINED BENEFIT

DELIGATION
N, 31-Dec-2022 31-Dec-2021

DAO at the beginning of peried 721,662.64 376,815
Add: Current service cost 319,653.52 307,704.84
Add: Past service cosk =

Add: Interest cpst 39,357.77 15,072.6
Less: Benefits paid by the plan

Less: Benefits paid by the employer (459 381) (376,815)
ﬁﬁ?:;égﬂju::;ﬁfﬁ fliin 302,884.13 398,853.89

Actuarial (gain) or losaes due to change in
financial assumptions

Actuarial (gaim) or |losses due to change in ) 31.31
demographic assumptions )
DBO at the end of period 924,177.06 721,662.64

F. COMPOSITION OF PLAN ASSET
N, 31-Deac-2022 31-Dec-2021
Bonds [Governmant/corporata)

Gratuity savings/depasit in
Banks/insurance companies

Equities
Total - -

S ko
NFINITY
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Transfer Grant valuation report vl State Mining Corporation Ltd,

G. RECONCILIATION OF CHANGES IN FAIR VALUE OF PLAN ASSETS
Nu. 31-Dec-2022 31-Dac-2021
Fair value at the beginning of petiod
Contribution paid Into the plan
Expected return on plan assats
Benefits paid from the plan

Return on' plan assets greater or (less) than
discount rate

Fair value at the and of period =

H. BIFURCATION BETWEEN CURRENT & NON-CURRENT LIABILITY

Nu. 31-Dec-2022 31-Dec-2021
Current hability 466,731,892 540,016.68
Nonscurrant liability 457 445.14 181,643.96
Not Linbility 9214,177.06 721,662.64

I. EXPECTED BENEFIT PAYMENTS IN FUTURE YEARS

In. MNu.
December 31, 2023 504,070.47
December 31, 2024 600,332.11
Decamber 38, 2025 482,929.06
December 31, 2026 307,671.74
December 31, 2027 406,016.69
December 2028 to December 2032 1,752,242.98
December 2033 to December 2042 3,953,650.33

J. ESTIMATED TERM OF LIABILITY (IN YEARS): 9.7%

1
I NDING

INFINITY
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Transfer Grant valuation report v1

5.2 SENSITIVITY ANALYSES

The following table summanses the results of sensitivity tests performed on the present value of the
defined benefit obligation by varylng the assumption parameters as listed. The same madel

and valuation methoddology as described in 4.4 was employed for this exercise.

Scanano

Assumption/Parameter

+ [.5%
Base rate
- 5%

Discount rate

< [0,5%
Base rate
= .5%

& 1%
Base rate
- 10%

F

rtality rate

+ 05%
Base rate
- 0.5%

Employer turnover rate

Defined Benafit
Obligation {DBO)

901,137.89

924,177.06

948,6817.95

952,157.85
924,177.06
897,769.62

924,177.06
924,177.06
924,177.06

928,427 45
924,177.06
919,653.39

Net effect of

Dao
(23,039.17)

24,640.89
27,980,79
_{__zﬁ,-m?.ui
(0.0)

lﬂ-ﬁi
4,250.39

{4,523.57)

State Mining Corporation Lid.

Percent
change

-2.49%
0.00%
267%

3.03%
0.00%
-2.86%

0.00%
0.00%
-0.00%

0.46%
0.00%
-0.49%

The following chart shows a graphical representation of the above sensitivity analysis.

1.02%

5
;
X

Discount rate

%:"m-m& (+0.5%)
NFINI

Salary growth
rate (& 0.5%)
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Transfer Grant valuation report vi State Mining Corporation Ltd,

6. CERTIFICATION

I certify that the report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of BAS 19, To the
best of my knowledge, 1 do not hold any interest, direct or Indirect with State Mining
Corporation Ltd. that would impair objectivity of my work,

I am available to answer any questions or to provide explanations or further detalls regarding
the materials contained in this report. Dated 23 January 2023, this version of the report nullifies
all other versions, wheather signed or not, preceding this date.

=

Tandin Dorji

f’ﬂﬂl
Actuarial Consultant S CONSULTING
Emall: tandin@drukinfinity.com IN F I N |TY
Contact: (375) 1785 8494 || (61) 414 784 044 https://drukinfinity.com
,%;gmmm
INFINITY
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Slate Mining Corporation Limited

RATIO ANALYSIS

Exhibit -1
' Particulars Derivation of Ratios 3Dec22 | 31.Decan | VAN
1 {Eaming Per Shane Profit Aftes Tas/No. of Shares [ssued 65333 F3.45 RT,-:
2{Net Profit Ratio Net Profit/ Tumover100 | 27|
3| Rettarn om Asset Net Profit/ Total Asset*100 959 91| gaqn
#|Retum on Bquity (ROT) Nt Profit/ Osners Equity*100 53,80 V1§ [—
3| Debbors Tamover Ratio Sales | Average Debtors §.51 1267 | a4 nesg
0| Curment Ratio Current Assels/ Carrent Liabilitics 125 AT | 1580
T10Quick Ratio (Curment Asset-Imentary)/ Curment Liakilitis 1.90 230| 4» 6%
5| Debtors Collection Peood Ratio [(Sundry debtors*366) / Sales 38 B s541%
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COMPLIANCE CALENDAR

"~ Submission of Amnwal | 267

Return
a) On or before 31 May
Companies listed with Royal -Annual return  filed
Securities Exchange of Bhutan On or before 31 July on July 06, 2022
b) | Limited - Tax fied in the
RAMIS  system  on
All unlisted companies includes: March 28, 2022
i) Duly filled form as per '
Annual Return Form
it) Balance sheet
i) Profit & Loss Account
v} Cash flow statement
v) Auditor's report
vi) Directors’ report
2 | 332 Annual General Meeting | 177
@) | Listed Companies On or before 30 April
b) | Unlisted Companies On or before 30 June AGM was held on
¢) | Government Campanies Same timing April 18, 2022
3 | Notice  Calling  General | 185 |21 davs belore the | Notice for AGM was
Meetings ACM provided on  March
25, 2012
4 | Payment of Dividend 204 | Within 30 days of | Not Appliceble
declaration in AGM
5 | Presentation of BfS, P&L Afc | 244 Audited accounts for
and Cash Flow Statement at 2021 submitted to the
every AGM AGM on April 18,
2022
6 | Filing of Documents with | 267 See SI. No. 1 above
Registrar
7 | 33.3 Appointment of auditor 251 AGM In  accordance  with
Section 255 of the
GCCand GC Notify the Registrar | Companies Act of
Reappointment within 15 days from | Bhutan 2016, Royal
Remaoval passing the resolution | Audit Authority has
appointed the
Resignation Convene the EGM | incumbent  auditor
within 14  days to | Dechak and
discuss resignation Associates Pyt Lid,
as  the  statutory
STATE MG CORPORATRN LIWTED ANTLIAL SEFOET 202



auditor for Financial
Year  ended 31
December 2022 vide
Audil  Appointment
Letter RAA(SA-
28)/COAD/2022/205
4 dated 14 November
pitrsd
& | Consent lo act as directors 140 1 new Board Directors
was on
April 18, 2022 and
submitted on May 06,
2022 o Company
Register.
9 Board 146 &
1 BM 149 3 months after last BM
2nd BM 2 months after last BM
3v BM 3 months after last BM
4 BM 3 months after lost BM
50 BM 2 months after last BM
10 | Appointment of CEO 210 | Every 3 years Continuation to
Second term,
appointed for
additioral 2 an
June 7, 2022
11 | Power of Regulatory Authority | 412 | Approval of | Approvals from the
to accord approval Regulatory Authority | Regulatory Authority
were obtained as and
when required.
112 .ﬂ.ppuhh::lnt of Company | 213 .&sperprm-{mdhy
M1l
i mm Record  and | 228 | All times Records and Registers
Inspection are updated yearly.

T Changes to Articles/ Approval |

Change of name/ Approval

Increase or consolidation

of
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3 | share capital
4 112 | Reduction of share capital o
4
5 |82 |License Copy and Share |+
Certificate filing
6 |10 |Public offer of shares &
7 | Debentures - ROC Approval
MANAGEMENT & ADMINISTRATION
7 |21 _Ii'.egistemd Office of Company | ¢ Gurung Busty, Samtse, Bhutan
7 |(Postal Address & Contact
Number)
§ |22 | Publication of name by|Y Complied
1 | Company
(Letter Head, Seals and Sign
Board)
9 |24 | Financial Year of Companies | v
1 | as of 315t Dec,
24 | Extension up to 15 months -
2 | ROC approval
24 | Extension up to 18 months -
3 | Authority's approval
10 | 24 | Financial Statements to follow | ¥
5 |[BAS
11 | 26 | Annual Return Submission v Annual return filed on Submitted
7 | On/before 31 May for listed; on July 06, 2022
Others - 31 July - Tax filed in the RAMIS system on
March 28, 2022
12 |17 | Annual  General Meeting | ¥ AGM was held on April 18, 2022
7 | (Minutes)
13 | 18 | Extraordinary General Nat conducted any Extraordinary
0 | Meeting (Minutes) General Meeting in 2022,
14 | 18 | Notice for calling general | ¢ Notice for AGM was provided on
5 | meeting March 25, 2022
15 | 18 | Listed Co. - wrilten as well as Not applicable as the company is a
7 | in media DHI Company with only two
Public Co/Pnvate Co. - shareholders.
Written Notice
16 | 19 | Chairman of meeting 4 CEOQ is not the Chair
0 | (CEQ cannot chair)
17 | 19 | Representation of corporations | v CEQ - through appropriate Office
2 |at meetings (Appointed by Orders

r
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SN BEPGHET 2002

Board Directors)
18 | 19 | Ordinary and special v
3 | resolutions (Minutes)
19 |19 | Minutes of Annual General | ¥
5 | Meeting and
Board Meetings (maintained
55.195-198)
20| 19 | Declaration and payment of | ¥
9 | dividend (199-209)
21 | 23 | Books of account to be kept by | v Gurung Busty, Samtse Dzongkhag,
2 | company Bhutan
(Location & time period)
22 |25 | Board's report (signed by | v
0 | Chairman)
23 |25 | Appointment and removal of | v/ Audit  Appointment  Letter
2 | Auditors RAA(SA-28)/ COAD/ 2022/ 2054
Re-appoint annually (251-259) dated 14 November 2022,
24 | 26 | Resignation of Auditors from \ No Resignation
0 |office
(Annual Resignation)
25 | 26 | Auditing standards v BAS and ISA followed
6 |(Audit using  Auditing
Standards issued by AASBB)
26 | 13 | Number of directors v 7 BD as on October 19, 2022 and 6
3 Board Members thereafter
27113 |One third of all Public NA
4 | Companies shall be
independent
28 [13 | (Minimum No. & retirement | YES
& | on rotation)
29 | 13 | Additional directors J
L
30 | 14 | Consent to act as directors v 1 new Board Directors was
0 appointed on April 18, 2022 and
submitted on May 06, 2022 to
Company Register.
31 |14 | Certain persons not to be|v Complied with.
1 | appointed as Directors
32 | 14 | Resignation by a director v Complied with.
2
33 |14 |Removal of directors /[ |V 1 new Board Directors was
3 | Change of Directors, appointed on April 18, 2022 and
submitted on May 06, 2022 to

b
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Company Register.
34 | 14 | Board mectings v Complied with
6 | (Four Meetings for Public
Companies and two Meetings
for Private Companies)
35 | 15 | General powers of the board | ¥ Complied with.
2
36 | 15 | Restriction on powers of Board Complied with.
6
37 |21 | Appointment  of  Chief | v Continuation to Second term,
0 | Execulive Officer appointed for additional 2 years on
(Max. 5 years terms & 2 June 7, 2022
consecutive terms only)
38 | 21 | Company Secretary required
3 | inall Public Companies
39 | 41 | Appointment of selling or
4 | buying agents
(Government Approval
oblained or not)
40 | 15 | No loans to directors (only for No leans to directors were given.
7 | Public Co)
41 | 53 | Inter-corporale investments Inter<orporate loan availed from
(Investments to be disclosed) DHL
apply old rule
42 |15 | Contracts in which directors Complied with.
8 | are interested
43 |16 | Standard of care required by | ¥ No incidents of breach of standard
1 | directors (Reckless decision) of care by directors were noticed
during the audit
STATUTORY RECORD AND INSPECTION
39 | 22 | Statutory record and
8 | inspection
(a) | Register of buy-back of shares | v
(b) | Register of transfers v
(¢) | Register of charges v
(d) | Register of inter<corporate | v
loans
(e} | Register of inter-corporate | ¥ SMCL invested Nu. 350 M to Druk
investments Air and Nu. 80 M to TTPL in the
month of December
(f) | Register of contracts in which No such incidents were seen during

STATE MGG CORPOEATEN 1 TWITED
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directors are interested. the year.
| (g) | Register of directors v
(h) | Register af directors’ v No director had any sharcholding
shareholding in any company related to SMCL.
For Dechok and Associates Pot. Lid For State Mining Corporation Lid

Kezang Jamtsho =—
Chief Executive Officer
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MANAGEMENT AUDIT REPORT

1. Inappropriate Hiring of Earth Moving Equipment for Loading at Sale Point (3.3.1)

Hired Earth Moving Equipment’s are deployed for loading crushed dolomite and gypsum at
sile point both in Pugli, Gomitu as well as in Motanga, S/ Jongkhar.

At Pugli, five Pay loaders (including one standby) are Iired from M/S Khandum Transport &
Hiring for loading crushed dolomite from stock yard (sale point). The hire charge is agreed at
machine hour mte. During the financial year a sum of Nu. 130357 million was incurred on
account of hire charges of four pay loaders. Likewise, in Motanga Stockyard (gypsum sale
point) 5/ Jongkhar two excavators are hired from M/s Tama Hiring Services. The hire charge is
agreed at per metric ton loaded. Total amount of hire charges incurred during the financial year
amounted to Nu.6423 million,

Based on the analysis of facts stated above, audit is of the view that loading at sale point should
be handled by the management due to following reasons:

a) The job is routine in nature with relatively low operating cost compared to excavation
works,

b) Efficiency in loading at sales point is key to increase sale volume, the contractors may
not view with similar lens,

<) Preparing loading site, due case for stock and management is important which private
vontractors will be least concierned,

In addition, in case the company’s going concern is shori-term, it is feasible 1o contract out such

services, bul in case of long-term perspective this amangement will be expensive to the
company.

In light of above audit observations, the management may comment justifying such decisions.
Management Response:

The taking over of Gypsum Mine during 2019 wazs o inferim tevm. Therifore, any imvestment the
Company plan for kad to reel through the hmvestment viakility lest. It was ohly last year in April that
Gyprssm ard Dodomite mines were given for long kerm fease by the Governmwend. The Compry shall doa
Hiorough cost besiefit wadysis for deployment of Company oumed equipment ol the loading sale points ae
agaimsi the present practice of engagimg hired equipment and report the outcome for implementation fo
the Board.

SN BEPGHET 2002 STATE MGG CORPOEATEN 1 TWITED
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Auditor’s Further Comments:

Now that the SMCL Jus obteined approval for long term lease arrangements of the mines from e
governmend, the managemnt as submithed in the response fo the observation should proceed with the cost
bemefit analysis of deploying the comparey owned eguipment vs hived equipment’s at the sale points at
Pugli and Samdrup Jongkhar, The outcome of Hie cost benefit analysis and the Boards recolution o the
above should be firnished to RAA for review and further commaents and recommendations.,

Whao is Accountable?

Direct Accountability: Sangay Rinzin, Director
CIT» #11503003678

Supervisory Accountability: Kezang Jamishn, Chief Executioe Officer
CID # 10905006022

Weakness in trip recording system (3.3.34)

Transportation cost of removing Over-Burden (OB) under mineral raising cost is a major cost
component of SMCL. Basis of deriving such transportation cost {8 the number of round trips
made by trucks for a given lead distance. For instance, as per Geology and Mines guidelines, 4.4
round trips for a lead distance of 0.3 KM is equivalent 1o 1 hour, Hence, amount payable to a trucker
is derived by number of trips completed converted into hours multiplied by the hourly rate.

At Rishare coal mines, it is observed that the trip recarder records 44 trips per truck (in most
cases) which is equivalent to 10 working hours in a day. But there is no methodical trip
recording system in practice. It Is manually recorded in a plain register noting number of round
trips made by each truck engaged at site. It ks usually done by the site supervisor who is also
required to look into other logistics at site.

At Pugli mines site, no systemic and reliable trip recording system is seen in place. Lack of such
system undermines reliability and accuracy of source data which is the basis for arviving at the

cost to be paid to the truck owners.

Capturing accurate and relfable data at source is important as it has implications on the input
cost of production and the bottom:line. Considering its importance, the management should
look for ways and means to design system of controls and monitoring devices to capture
reliable as well as verifiable data,
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Muanagement Response:

The concern of the Statutory Audit is well noted evey before the issue was raised. For the same,
the company has budgeted in 2023 to purchase equipment called “Load Scanner” which can
measure e nimber of trips and the volume of materials each fruck is carrying. We are yet o see
the uffectives of such machines as it will be first of kind being adopted in Blntan. We rwill be
doing pilot lesting of such equipment in a particular mine and based on the effectives, it will be
replicated in other munes of the company,

In near future, the company proposes to umdertake feasibility studies lo upgrade floet
management system by fitting all the trucks with GPS hardware and record live deployment of
macline in tie mines. Based on the feasibility, a system may be developed, However, from our
preliminary discussion with IT firms in Bhutan, no ome has undertaken such projects il date,

Auditor's Further Conmments:

We take note of the initiatives that is going to be fuken by the managemen! to address the current
weaknesses in the trip recording system. We would like to reiterate that the current practice of
trip recording is prone to intentional or unintentional mistakes which would ultimaltely impac!
on the SMCL's costs, Therefore, we recommend that SMCL institule a relioble trip recording
system which would caplure accurate and verifiable source data for computation and
authentication of costs incurred,

As proposed by the management to purchase Load Scanner to pilot test the effectiveness and to
undertake feasibility study to upgrade fleet managenient system with GPS hardware, we once
again acknowledge the management initiatives. We would remind the management that the
awtonme of these initiatives be intimated to RAA for their comments and recommendations.

Who is Accourntable?

Direct Accountability: Karma Chophel
CID #10604001035

Supervisory Accountability: Sangay Tshering
CID #11508004101

3 Improper accounting for PPE (3.2.13)

Analysis of PPE records produced from the ERP system reveal inconsistency in: a)
application of depreciation rates, (b) calculation of NBV, and (c) grouping of assets
under right Assets Class. Each of these issues is highlighted below:

J—ﬂ‘f.Jl
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a) Depreciation rates applied to assets are inconsistent with the depreciation
rates issued by DHL Annexure B, DHI Group Accounting Policy (2022
version) provides ranges of asset’s useful life for different class of assets.  For
instances, Computer & Office Equipment range of useful life is 3-7 years
equivalent to 33,33% - 14.29%. But in this instance, depreciation rate applied
to wooden chairs is 6%, some conference tables, plastic chairs 5% wooden
chodroms, furniture at site office 4% or less.

b) Many PPE items shown in the account have net book values less than one
ngultrum or negative values. Some instances are shown in the Table below:

Plant & Machinesy
2 | Software Application 6 4 67%
3 Building and civil strocture | 128 13 10%
4 | Data Processing equipment | 439 s 2%
5 [ Office Equipaownt 120 b 5%

f Offfce Pguipment®

According to depreciation policy, net book value (NBV) of asset should be
recorded as ngultrum one at end of its useful life, Asset value of less than one
ngultrum or negative amount is inconsistent with the policy.

¢) DHI Group Accounting Policy listed 14 Assels Class, based on this mothet
group, management could have as many sub-class of assets. But audit
observed, many assets are recorded under wrong class. For example, Tata
Trippers recorded under Plant & Machinery, rice cooker, water boiler, Sintax
(3000 litres), circular saw; electric poles etc. are recorded under Office
Equipment.

In light of above; the management should consider revisiting overall PPE
management system, including determination of capitalization threshold.
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Management Response:

The management have planned to reconstruct overall PPE in the FY 2023 to resolve the
issies noted by the SA and moreover upon completion of migrating the data in system
[from old vérsion of e-mines to current new e-mines the issues will be resolped.

The overnll asset reconstructionfoalution shall be carried out using the expertise (CA)
[irms sond reporfed to RAA.

Aunditor's Further Comments:

The management should revisit the accounting for PPE mid recolve all discrepancies that
currently exist, The management should ensure that accounting for PPE is consistent
with DHI accounting policies as well as with its own accounting policies. The ouleome of
the initintives that the management his proposed lo address the current situation should
be intimated to RAA for further comments,

Wha is Accountable;

Direct Aceonntability: Kelden Jatsho
CID #10104000536

Supervisory Aceountabilify: Chlsinti Rinzin
CID #10716000103
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1. Summary Follow-up Report for the year ended 31 December 2021

Audit | Total No. of [ No. of | No. of | Balance
provided
2 |1 1 0 0
Follow up on the management report for the year 2021
Para Current
No. | Observation in Brief | Management Response | RAA's Further Comments | Status
1 Write off of stocks Tire Board has endorsed the | Stock  losses  written  off | As the
worth Nu. atthority o the | during  the year by the | Board  has
11,094,523,58 mamagemont to  writeoff | mamagenent  may  be | sndorced
Hie stock {f {r is within the | submitted to the Board for the write off
repsonable limil. However, | endorsement and = g
did wot  fixed  the | subsequently submitted to .
permissible ceiling | RAA for further revie s
reviewing the risk of misuse written  off
of materigls if rights of by the
write-off being pre- manageme
establighed.  Therefore, it nt, the paro
was  directed  to the shalf be
management lo gssess fhe treated  as
write-off of stock with settled.

highest  diligence  and
accordingly consider  the
decision  whether  fo act
wifftin  the  meanagement
level vr if to put up to the
Board if it demands Board's
endorsemmi. Huoever,
mumagement  will  avail
approval from SMCL. Board
und subnii o the oudit
teany,
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1. Omission of Gratuity Fund Account from the Accounting System of SMCL
Nu. 2,790,354.00

During our review of the Actuarial Valuation Report pertaining to gratuity, we
observed that SMCL. maintains its gratuity fund account with the Bhutan Insurance
Limited, Samtse, As per the actuarial report, the fund balance at the financial year end
amounted to Nu. 2.790,354.00.

We observed that SMCL had omitted the gratuity fund balance from the books of
accounts,

The management must immediately correct this omission and record its gratuity fund
as an asset in the accounting system.

Management Response:

The gratuity fund maintained with Bhutan Insurance Limited was separated from Company
books as separate Plant Asset as per Statutory Auditors recommendation in 2019 and the
fimancial values of the gratuity was taken in books as per the actuarial valuation report,
However, from 2022 closing the plant asset was taken under company's books of accounts,

Therefore, managementt would like to consider the memo to be dropped or laken under
recommendatory section,

The abservation is treated as settlod:

As the gratuity fund account maintained with the Bhwian Insurance has been brought into the
books of accounts of SMCL, the audit observation shall not be pursued further. We would like to
remind that keeping company pssets outside the books of accounts would be susceptible to misuse
as well as deviating from the accounting principles.

Co iance to be made:

The existence of the satd account in the books of accounts of SMCL shall be verified in the next
audil,

2, Delay in payment of dividend and conversion of unpaid dividend as Inter-
Corporate Loans resulted to interest burden of Nu. 8,290,930.03

During our review of the Inter-Corporate Loans between the DHI and SMCL, we
observed that unpaid dividend of Nu. 607,002,550.00 was converted as Inter Corporate
Loan between the DH!I and SMCL. We also observed that SMCL had paid Nu.
8,290,930.03 as interest on the unpaid dividend converted as ICL.
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With the above Inter Corporate Loan arrangements to convert the unpaid dividend
into ICL, we also reviewed the DHI's Intér-Corporate Loan Policy as to whether such
arrangements were covered in the ICL Policy.

The ICL policy did not specify that unpaid dividend could be converted as ICL. The
Palicy’s definition of ICL was “all borrowings or any deposit of money by one company
with another company, not being a banking company”.

Having reviewed the ICL Policy and the arrangements that took place, the management
may clarify on the following;

i How unpaid dividend by SMCL to the DHI was classified as ICL as nathing
is specified about this arrangement in the ICL Policy,

il.  How the management proposed the dividend as the dividend approved
apparently was not in alignment with the available cash and benk balances,
In other words, the SMCL had cash flow problems as the company was not
able to pay the dividend declared and approved by its Board and the
shareholders.

iii. ~ How do the management justify the extra interest burden of Nu. 8,290,930.03
due to its inability to pay dividends on time.

We would like to seek the managements clarification an the above abservations.
Mana

The divtdenid payment as planned after considering the coshflow status was distorted with the
ad hoc disbursement of cash such as annual licence fee for long term lease granted by the
Government for Chunaikhols dolomite and Khothakpa Gypsum Mine. The total amount paid to
MoEA was Nu. 275 M in April which was not budgeted as the grant of long-term lease was
uncertain. Further, the Company had to invest on one-time ptirchaze of 25 numbers of dumper
trucks to relicve the risk of suspension of operation of dolomite and gupsum weine since the
indizidual hired truckers had called on strike to raise the Iransport cosl. The threat to take the
company for ransom was sensed and hence had to immediately act on coll. Nu 72.29 million was
spevil for the pierchase in June.

Collections from DCCL did not materialize as planned against the cash-flow proiection and it
has also uffected dividend payment.

J,_

STATE MGG CORPOEATEN 1 TWITED ANNUAL EEPORT 2227



The managentent has appraised to DHI fo waive-off the interest poriion on the late payment of
dividend. However, with the circulation of notice from DHI, the management had to pay the
interest portion to DHI. The management will take up the issue with DH! and respond
accordingly to RAA for consideration.

The observation is treated as settled:
The SMCL must propose its dividend considering its profit after tax and the cashflow position,
As the cashflow position was affected by adhoc outflow of cash which tmpacted on timely

payment of dividend, and that the net impact on the group is none as a result of interest
paument, the observation for now will not be pursued further.

Compliance to be made:

As agreed by the management, the issue may be taken up with the DHI and outcome intimated
to RAA for information.

3. Pre-financing Bhutan Oil Distributors and Private Transporters

The SMCL management makes huge amount of cash deposit in advance with BOD,
S/Jongkhar on behalf of the private transporters engaged in transporting gypsum
boulders and crushed stones from Khothakpa, Pemagatshel to Motange Stock Yard,
S/longkhar. The private transporters who signed service contract with SMCL
management are authorized (controlled fashion) to fuel from the BOD. The fuel
advance is replenished on daily or weekly basis as soon as it is exhausted. The quantity
of fuel utilized and the total cost of fuel is recorded in management accounting system
on daily basis, against each transporter, based on the data supplied by the BOD. More
than 100 truckers have joined this scheme. Table below shows summarv of monthly
deposits made, amount recovered from truckers during the current financial year.

Toble showing total amount paid to BOD and adjustment effected

nce Pald to BOD | Advance Recovered from |
January 18,000,000,00 1400531215 346137067
February 9.000,000.00 B,709,301.55 370772
March 12,100,000, 00 14,521.965.25 133011187
April 21,0000,060.00 3145645970 BTLESLET

ADTETAT FEPGHT 37 FTATE METTNG CORPORATIN LIWTTED



May 3),095,000,00 29,325 594.00 1,641,058.17
June 15,350,000.00 13,555,944 85 343511332
Tuly 30,000,000.60 31,120,84850 2.514,264.82
Augunt 30,050,000.00 STASLTTED 90514872
Seprtember 27,000,000.00 25,499,412 45 2,405,736.27
October 24,000,000.00 25,357,929 60 1,047,506.67
November | 27,815,020.00 36,100,21245 “2760,514.2

As showi in the Table above, a sum of Nu. 271.41 M were paid to the BOD and an
amount of Nu. 270.351 M recovered from the transporter bills.

However, in view of audit, the arrangement of fuelling system practiced by the
management tantamount to pre-financing BOD business (interest free) whose core
business is buying and selling fuel with its own finance. It is also seen that SMCL pre-
finances the transporters through the payment of advances to BOD as the transporters
can obtain fuel against the advahces deposited by SMCL with the BOD.

We are also of the opinion that implementing such fuelling practice incur additional
cost to the company:

i as the company had to recruit additional employees solely for maintaining
private transporters and BOD fuel accounts.

it.  As there is an opportunity cost of Nu. 271.41 million in the form of interest
lost had the company invested these amounts in the short-term deposits,

i As the amount could have been used to settle other liabilities such as the
dividend and other interest-bearing liabilities.

The management may deliberate as to how long this practice will continue and
management’s perspectives on cost and benefits analysis of this practice in light of
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additional staffs requirement and the bank interest foregone by deploying huge amount
of corporate fund to serve financial interest of other businesses.

Management Response:

Pre-financing for POL to the individual trucks is the key strategic <cheme that SMCL undertake
to. encourage trucks to work with the Company. This scheme also functions as opportunity for
the Company to negotiate on transport rate, Such schemte if not incentivised to the truckers, with
our experience of operating mines over these years, will put the Company under pressure to
constantly look for transporters and thereby, affecting the supply chain. The Company strongly
believe that ingplementing such scheme though cost the company of paying advance to fuel
station and as well deploy staff to manage the logistics, yet the benefits of maving reliable
transport to ensure uninterrupled export offsets sucl cost incurred,

The obserpation is treated as settled:

In the absence of other alternatioes which would outweigh the cost of pre-finaneing transporiers
through the BOD which ensures uninterrupted exports, the observation shall not be pursued
Jurther.

liance to be madi:

The management may continuously explore other possibilities which may serve the interest of the
company. The management may also see if the pre-financing are wot limited to BOD alone as

there are other suppliers of fuel in the regions,

4. Need for improving Working Conditions at different mine sites

We visited the mine sites at Chunaikhola Dolomite mines, Gypsum mines in
Khothakpa, Coal mines in Bhangtar and Dewathang. In most of the sites, we observed
that working spaces for staff reguired further improvement to enhance employes
morale and productivity.

The management may look into this matter.

Management Response:

Mining is a physically demanding job exposing workers to numerous risks. Horsh working
comditions and remote locations does not encourage many fo opt for. The Company continues to
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struggle to recruit good people becanse of swch conditions. And now with many. leaving for
Australia and other countries, the recruitment has become even more ncule.

By assessing the living situations of our employee at site, it was noted that our employees are
enduring difficult life in a makeshift currently available. Al the same time staff working at the
mine sites also have reported and requested the management and higher officials about the
persisted of accommodationfacility challenges they had to endure. Towards this, the
managerent had noted the underscore housing issues persisted at the sites and proposed for o
decentt accommodation to promote conducive working enviranment and motivate employees at
mine sites, Therefore, the budget for same has also been booked and onward prior approval from
the Board will be sorted in the coming Board Meeting.

The observation s freated as settled:

In view of the management's proposals o improve the working conditions at the mines site for
tts employees, the observation shall not be pursued further,

Compliance to be made:

The exvcution of management's proposals will be verified tn the next audit,

5. Lack of internal control system at sale point risks misuse of cash

Dzongthung/Dzungdi boulders and stone crushing unit, Trashigang sell boulders and
stone chips of different sizes (20mm, 10mm and 0-5mm) to the Jocal market in the
Eastern Region on cash basis. Most payments are, now-a-days, effected through MBOB
but some are still dealt on cash basis.

During the current financial year, the system records cash sale amounting to Nu. 32
million from Dzongthung/Dzungdi boulders and stone crushing unit. Analysis of sales
account revealed following issues:

a) Total cash colléction does not reconcile with the amounts deposited into the Bank
Account. Other than the cash sales paid through MBOB, delay in deposit of cash
sales are detected in few instances. Delay in deposit of cash sales could lead to
termiporary misuse of fund. Detailed list of transactions are shown in the table
below:
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Table show delay in deposit of cash sales

I-Aug22 | 31-Die22 780,00 80 860.00 142
240022 | 26-Dec2d 25810,00 8l 25,890,00 64
BO22 | 26D 2643000 80 26,510.00 62
26-0ct-20 26-Dec-22 24,960 00 80 25,060.00 61
26-Oct-22 26Dec22 26,210.00 80 26,290,00 &1

b) Weigh Bridge (WB) slip not accounted in full.

A serially numbered Weigh Bridge slip is auto generated every time a truck
passes through the bridge. This WB slip forms the basis for raising sales invoice-
cash or credit sale. It was observed that the WB slips are not accounted in full in

monthly sales statement.

c) It is observed, only one person is made responsible for receiving order, raise
sales invoice, collect/receive cash and deposit into Bank Account Bank
reconciliation of the sale account is done at SMCL HQ, Samtse but do not track

late deposit of cash sales.

In light of above audit observation, management should consider improving
internal control system at site or improve monitoring and supervision from Head

Office.

Muanagement Response:

a. The management noted the delay in deposit of cash agiinst the sales made. Credit sales
without the approval from the higher management is not allowed and therefore, the officer
concerned was asked for e explunation wnd reprimand order issued for such default Bt

wwould risk for misuse of fund.
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b, This has happened due to the mamual record keeping in excel sheet. For local individual
sales, sales manager hus kept the record in one sheet and for bulk buyerfmajor buyer, Hhe
record was kept in another sheel. We were able to locate the sample weighbridge slip No
6842 and 6833 which was asked by our auditors in the weighbridge system record. The
miissing sevial number has basically happened while we put the vehicle on weighbridge
and suddenly light gets off or fluctuation in power supply, already generated slip
numbers get cleared and we get subsequent serial number.

Henceforth, for any incidence of ervar in weighbridge slip not recorded for invoicing, the
comritittee shall endorse the error ind record the evidence for réference. Further, technical
default shall be discussed with the weighbridge experts.

c. We started the DSQ project primarily fo supply aggregates to KHEL. KHEL project
getting deferred indefinitely has coused lot of issues to the Company. Manpower
recruitment for accounts in DSQ had to be deferred since given the volume of
transaction, it was not sensible to recruit staff for full swing operation. Therefore, as a
downsizing strategy lo reduce or control the cost at DSQ, multitasking was encouraged,
Just enough to sustain meeting local demand.

Thte monthly sales report and deposits were revicwedmonitored from the Head Office and
aceordingly notified and reminded to the Sales Office, DSQ.

Auditor’s Further Comments:

In viese of the explamations provided by the maragement, the obseroation shall not be pursuod
Jurther.

Compliance to be made:

The compliance as assured by the mimagement shall be verified in the next audit.
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Branch Offices

Hehszag Coal Mins
Samdrupoholing, Ssmidrop Joagshas
Tek 17121651

Tshophkangnsa Coal Aine
Samdrupoholing, Ssmidrop Joagshas
Tel {+873:-17121651

Reckhose Coal Aime
Dewithizag, Samdmp Jongkhar

Tel (=072-TT711454

Di=ongthung Stoss Quaeey
Bastiham, Tazhisang
Tel: {+873:-17453433

Khothzlepa Gipsoa hline
Pema Gatchel
Tel (+975- 07471114

Chossikholz Dolomite Mins
Phsentshopeln, Sanitza
Tel {+873-77 106537

Regicnal Sales & Logitie Office
Esmdrap Jonpkhar

Tel (+975:07-233047 (232045

ADTNIAT REPOHRT 1037 STATE MG CORPOEATEN 1 TWITED



GURUNG BASTI, SAMTSE
F.BOX ND. 320

TEL: [(+9T5)-05-365885

email m: smcl@smclbt
www.smcl.bi



